# CRIME AND PLACE WORKING GROUP BIBLIOGRAPHY

Updated August, 2020

# **Contents**

| 1. CRIMINOLOGY OF CRIME PLACES                           | 2  |
|--|----|
| General History of Criminology                           |    |
| Social Disorganization                                   |    |
| Environmental Criminology                                |    |
| Routine Activities Theory                                |    |
| 2. CRIME SPECIALIZATION AND CONCENTRATION AT PLACES      |    |
| 3. CRIMINAL CAREERS OF PLACES                            | 17 |
| 4. GEOGRAPHIC STUDY OF CRIME                             | 18 |
| 5. PLACE AND TIME  | 21 |
| 6. SPECIFIC CRIMES, SPECIFIC PLACES, SPECIFIC SITUATIONS | 23 |
| 7. UNITS OF ANALYSIS FOR CRIME AND PLACE                 | 27 |
| 8. CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND CRIME PREVENTION AT PLACES       | 28 |
| Crime Prevention through Environmental Design            | 28 |
| Situational Crime Prevention                             |    |
| Policing and Place                                       | 29 |
| Places and their Effect on Criminal Justice Agents       | 35 |
| 9. PREDICTING CRIME AT PLACES/RISK/GEOGRAPHIC PROFILING  |    |
| 10. CRIME ANALYSIS, METHODS AND DATA USE                 | 40 |
| 11. DIFFUSION AND DISPLACEMENT                           | 45 |
| 12. JOURNEY TO CRIME                                     | 47 |

#### 1. CRIMINOLOGY OF CRIME PLACES

## General History of Criminology

- Birkbeck, C., & LaFree, G. (1993). The Situational Analysis of Crime and Deviance. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 19, 113-37.
- Bruinsma, G., Elffers, H., Keijser, J. de (Eds.). (2004). *Developments in Criminological and Criminal Justice Research*. Cullompton, Devon: Willan Publishing.
- Braga, A., & Weisburd, D. (2010). Editors' Introduction: Empirical Evidence on the Relevance of Place in Criminology. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 1-6.
- Braga, A.A. & Weisburd, D.L. (2010). Editor's Inroduction: Empirical evidence on the relevance of place in criminology. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26:1, 1-6
- Braga, A.A. & Weisburd, D.L. (2010). The Theoretical Importance of Place in Crime Prevention. In A. Braga & D. Weisburd (Eds.) *Policing Problem Places* (pp 61-99). Oxford Scholarship Online Monographs
- Eck, J., & Weisburd, D. (Eds.). (1995). *Crime and Place. Crime Prevention Studies 4*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Gerben J.N. Bruinsma (2014), *History of criminological theories: causes of crime*, in: Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & David Weisburd (eds.), The Encyclopedia of Criminology and Criminal Justice, New York: Springer, 2137-2148.
- Gerben J.N. Bruinsma (2017), From countries to micro places: a brief history of geographical criminology, *Jerusalem Review of Legal Studies*, 15(1), 27-43.
- Gerben J.N. Bruinsma & D. Weisburd (2014), *History of geographic criminology I: the 19th century*, in: Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & David Weisburd (eds.), The Encyclopedia of Criminology and Criminal Justice, New York: Springer, 2159-2163.
- Hipp, J. R., & Williams, S. A. (2020). Advances in Spatial Criminology: The Spatial Scale of Crime. *Annual Review of Criminology*, *3*, 75-95.
- LeBeau, J.L. & Leitner, M. (2011). Introduction: Progress in research on the geography of crime. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 161-173.
- Loukaitou-Sideris, A., & Eck, J. (2007). Crime Prevention and Active Living. *Journal of Health Promotion*, 21(4 supplement), 30-389.
- Maltz, M. D. (1996). Criminality in Space and Time: Life Course Analysis and the Microecology of Crime. In J. Eck & D. Weisburd (Eds.). *Crime and Place*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- National Institute of Justice (Ed.). (1998). *Crime and Place: Plenary Papers of the 1997 Conference on Criminal Justice Research and Evaluation*. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Newman, G., & Clarke, R. V. (2016). *Rational choice and situational crime prevention: Theoretical foundations.* Routledge.
- Park, R., Burgess, E., & McKenzie, R. (1925). *The City*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. Rosenbaum, D. (1986). *Community Crime Prevention*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Schmid, C. (1960). Urban Crime Areas: Part II. American Sociological Review, 25(5), 655-678.
- Sherman, L., Gartin, P., & Buerger, M. (1989). Hot Spots of Predatory Crime: Routine Activities and the Criminology of Place. *Criminology*, 27(1), 27 56.
- St. Jean, P. (2009). Pockets of Crime: Broken Windows, Collective Efficacy, and the Criminal Point of View, *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews*, *38*, 41-42.

- Taylor, R. (2001). Breaking Away From Broken Windows: Baltimore Neighborhoods and the Nationwide Fight Against Crime, Grime, Fear, and Decline. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Taylor, R. (1998). *Crime in Small-Scale Places: What We Know, What We Can Prevent and What Else We Need to Know.* In Crime and Place: Plenary Papers of the 1997 Conference on Criminal Justice Research and Evaluation.
- Trasler, G. (1993). Conscience, Opportunity, Rational Choice, and Crime (pp. 305-322).
- Weisburd, D., Bernasco, W., Bruinsma, G. (2009). Putting Crime in its Place: Units of Analysis in Geographic Criminology. New York: Springer.
- Weisburd, D. The Emergence of Crime Places in Crime Prevention.
- Weisburd, D. (2002). From Criminals to Criminal Contexts: Reorienting Crime Prevention Research and Policy. In E. Waring & D. Weisburd (Eds.). *Crime and Social Organization. Advances in Criminological Theory, Vol. 10* (pp. 197-216). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Weisburd, D. (2002). *The Emergence of Crime Places in Crime Prevention*. Paper read at the NSCR 10th Anniversary Congress, Leiden The Netherlands, September 2002.
- Weisburd, D. (1997). Reorienting Crime Prevention Research and Policy: From the Causes of Crime to the Context of Crime. National Institute of Justice Research Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Weisburd, D., Eck, J., Braga, A., Telep, C., Cave, B., Bowers, K., Bruinsma, G., Gill, C., Groff, E., Hibdon, J., Hinkle, J., Johnson, S., Lawton, B., Lum, C., Ratcliffe, J., Rengert, G., Taniguchi, T., & Yang, S (2016) *Place matters: criminology for the twenty-first century*. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY
- Weisburd, D., Hinkle, J. C., Braga, A. A., & Wooditch, A. (2015). Understanding the mechanisms underlying broken windows policing: The need for evaluation evidence. *Journal of research in crime and delinquency*, 52(4), 589-608.
- Weisburd, D., Maher, L., & Sherman, L. (1992). Contrasting Crime General and Crime Specific Theory: The Case of Hot Spots of Crime. *Advances in Criminological Theory*, *4*, 45-70.
- Weisburd, D., & McEwen, T. (Eds.). (1998). *Crime Mapping & Crime Prevention, Crime Prevention Studies*, 8. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Welsh, Brandon C., Anthony A. Braga & Gerben J.N. Bruinsma (2015), Re-imagining Broken Windows, *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 52(4):447-463.

# Social Disorganization

- Alba, R., Logan, J., & Bellair, R. (1994). Living with Crime: The Implications of Racial/Ethnic Differences in Suburban Location. *Social Forces*, 73(2), 395-434.
- Anderson, E. (1999). *Code of the Street: Decency, violence and the moral life of the inner city.* New York: W.W. Norton and Company
- Auerhahn, K., Henderson, J., & McConnell, P. (2007). Are you Judged by the Residence You Keep? Homicide Sentencing, Attribution, and Defendant SES. Paper presented at American Society of Criminology, 2007 Annual Meeting. Atlanta, GA.
- Bellair, P. (1997). Social Interaction and Community Crime: Examining the Importance of Neighbor Networks. *Criminology*, *35*(4), 677-704.

- Boardman, J., Finch, B., Ellison, C., et al. (2001). Neighborhood Disadvantage, Stress, and Drug Use Among Adults. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 42, 151-165.
- Boggess, L., & Hipp, J. (2010). Violent Crime, Residential Instability and Mobility: Does the Relationship Differ in Minority Neighborhoods?. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(3), 351-370.
- Boggess, L. N., & Hipp, J. R. (2016). The spatial dimensions of gentrification and the consequences for neighborhood crime. *Justice Quarterly*, 33(4), 584-613.
- Braga, A. A. & Clarke, R. V. (2014). Explaining high risk concentrations of crime in the city: Social disorganization, crime opportunities, and Important next steps. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *51* (4), 480 498.
- Braga, A. A., & Clarke, R. V. (2017). Social Disorganization, Crime Opportunities, and The Criminology of Place. *Jerusalem Review of Legal Studies*, 15(1), 12-26.
- Branic, N., & Hipp, J. R. (2018). Growing pains or appreciable gains? Latent classes of neighborhood change, and consequences for crime in Southern California neighborhoods. *Social science research*, 76(1), 77-91.
- Brown, E. (2008). Race, Space, and Crime: The City, Moral Panics, and 'Risky' Youth. In C. Krinsky, (Ed). *Moral Panics Over Contemporary Children and Youth.* 203-224.
- Browning, C., Feinberg, S., & Dietz, R. (2004). The Paradox of Social Organization: Networks, Collective Efficacy, and Violent Crime in Urban Neighborhoods. *Social Forces*, 83(2), 503-534.
- Browning, C., Byron, R., Calder, C., Krivo, L., Mei-Po, K., Jae-Yong, L., et al. (2010). Commercial Density, Residential Concentration, and Crime: Land Use Patterns and Violence in Neighborhood Context. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 47(3), 329-357.
- Bruinsma, G. J., Pauwels, L. J., Weerman, F. M., & Bernasco, W. (2013). Social disorganization, social capital, collective efficacy and the spatial distribution of crime and offenders: An empirical test of six neighbourhood models for a Dutch city. *British Journal of Criminology*, 53(5), 942-963.
- Bursik, R. (1988). Social Disorganization and Theories of Crime and Delinquency: Problems and Prospects. *Criminology*, 26, 519-551.
- Bursik, R., Jr., & Grasmick. H. (1993). *Neighborhoods and Crime: The dimensions of effective community control*. San Francisco: Lexington Books.
- Bursik, R., Jr., & Webb, J. (1982). Community Change and Patterns of Delinquency. *American Journal of Sociology*, 88(1), 24-42.
- Byrne, J. (2008). The Social Ecology of Community Corrections Understanding the Link Between Individual and Community Change. *Criminology and Public Policy*, 7(2), 263-274.
- Cancino, JM; Martinez, R; Stowell, JI. (2009). The Impact of Neighborhood Context on Intragroup and Intergroup Robbery: The San Antonio Experience, *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 623, 12-24.
- Chamberlain, A. W., & Hipp, J. R. (2015). It's all relative: Concentrated disadvantage within and across neighborhoods and communities, and the consequences for neighborhood crime. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 43(6), 431-443.
- Clear, T., Waring, E., & Scully, K. (2005). Communities and Reentry: Concentrated Reentry Cycling. In J. Travis & C. Visher (Eds.). *Prison Reentry and Crime in America*. Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Corcoran, J., Zahnow, R., Wickes, R., & Hipp, J. (2018). Neighbourhood land use features, collective efficacy and local civic actions. *Urban Studies*, *55*(11), 2372-2390.
- Cubbin, C., Pickle, L., & Fingerhut, L. (2000). Social Context and Geographic Patterns of Homicide Among U.S. Black and White Males. *American Journal of Public Health*, 90(4), 579-587.
- Davis, D.E. (2009). Taking Place and Space Seriously: Reflections on 'Disparity and Diversity in the Contemporary City'. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 60(1), 39-47.
- Desmond, S.A. & Kubrin, C.E. (2009). The power of place: Immigrant communities and adolescent violence. *Sociological Quarterly*, 50(4), 581-607.
- Dobrin, A, Lee, D., & Price, J. (2005). Neighborhood Structure Differences Between Homicide Victims and Non-Victims. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *33*, 137-143.
- Elliott, D., Wilson, W., Huizinga, D., Sampson, R., Elliott, A., & Rankin, B. (1996). The Effects of Neighborhood Disadvantage on Adolescent Development. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 33, 389-426.
- Garcia, R.M., Taylor, R.B., & Lawton, B.A. (2007). Impacts of Violent Crime and Neighborhood Structure on Trusting Your Neighbors. *Justice Quarterly*, 24 (4), 679-704.
- Gottfredson, D., McNeil, R., & Gottfredson, G. (1991). Social Area Influences on Delinquency: A Multilevel Analysis. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 28(2), 197-226.
- Hardyns, W. (2009) The Geography of Social Cohesion and Crime at the Municipality Level. In M. Cools et al. (Eds.) *Contemporary issues in the empirical study of crime*. Maklu: Antwerpen, The Netherlands.
- Hinkle, J. C. (2013). The relationship between disorder, perceived risk and collective efficacy: A look into the indirect pathways of the broken windows thesis. *Criminal Justice Studies*, *4*, 408-432.
- Hinkle, J. C. (2015). Emotional fear of crime vs. perceived safety and risk: Implications for measuring "fear" and testing the broken windows thesis. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40, 147-168.
- Hinkle, J.C., & Yang, S. (2014). A new look into broken windows: What shapes individuals' perceptions of social disorder? *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 42, 26-35.
- Hipp, J. (2007). Income Inequality, Race, and Place: Does the Distribution of Race and Class Within Neighborhoods Affect Crime Rates. *Criminology*, 45(3), 665-697.
- Hipp, J. (2010). A Dynamic View of Neighborhoods: The Reciprocal Relationship between Crime and Neighborhood Structural Characteristics. *Social Problems*, *57*(2), 205-230.
- Hipp, J. R. (2016). Collective efficacy: How is it conceptualized, how is it measured, and does it really matter for understanding perceived neighborhood crime and disorder?. *Journal of criminal justice*, 46(1), 32-44.
- Hipp, J. R., & Chamberlain, A. W. (2015). Foreclosures and crime: A city-level analysis in Southern California of a dynamic process. *Social science research*, *51*, 219-232.
- Hipp, J. R., & Kane, K. (2017). Cities and the larger context: What explains changing levels of crime?. *Journal of criminal justice*, 49, 32-44.
- Hipp, J. R., Kim, Y. A., & Kane, K. (2019). The effect of the physical environment on crime rates: Capturing housing age and housing type at varying spatial scales. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(11), 1570-1595.
- Hipp, J. R., & Kubrin, C. E. (2017). From bad to worse: How changing inequality in nearby areas impacts local crime. RSF: *The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 3(2), 129-151.

- Hipp, J. R., & Steenbeek, W. (2016). Types of crime and types of mechanisms: What are the consequences for neighborhoods over time?. *Crime & Delinquency*, 62(9), 1203-1234.
- Hipp, J., Tita, G., & Boggess, L. (2009). Intergroup and Intragroup Violence: Is Violent Crime an Expression of Group Conflict or Social Disorganization? *Criminology*, 47(2), 521-564.
- Hipp, J., Tita, G., & Greenbaum, R. (2009). Drive-bys and Trade-ups: Examining the Directionality of the Crime and Residential Instability Relationship. *Social Forces*, 87(4), 1777-1812.
- Hipp, J. R., & Wickes, R. (2017). Violence in urban neighborhoods: A longitudinal study of collective efficacy and violent crime. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(4), 783-808.
- Hipp, J. R., Williams, S. A., & Boessen, A. (2018). Disagreement in assessing neighboring and collective efficacy: The role of social distance. *Socius*, 4, 1-16.
- Hunter, A., & Baumer, T. (1982). Street Traffic, Social Integration and Fear of Crime. *Sociological Inquiry*, *52*, 122-131.
- Jacobs, J. (1961). The Death and Life of Great American City. New York: Vintage Books.
- Jacobson, J. (2006). Do drug treatment facilities increase clients exposure to potential neighborhood-level triggers for relapse? A small-area assessment of a large, public treatment system. *Journal of Urban Health*, 83(2), 150-161.
- Kane, R. (2003). Social Control in the Metropolis: A Community-Level Examination of the Minority Group-Threat Hypothesis. *Justice Quarterly*, 20(2), 265-295.
- Kennedy, L., Silverman, R., & Forde, D. (1991). Homicide in Urban Canada: Testing the Impact of Economic Inequality and Social Disorganization. *Canadian Journal of Sociology*, *16*(4), 397-410.
- Kornhauser, R.R. (1978). *Social sources of delinquency: an appraisal of analytic models*. University of Chicago Press: Chicago, IL.
- Land, K., McCall, P., & Cohen, L. (1990). Structural Covariates of Homicide Rates: Are There Any Invariances Across Time and Social Space? *American Journal of Sociology*, 95(4), 922-963.
- Lee, M. (2000). Concentrated Poverty, Race, and Homicide. *Sociological Quarterly*, 41(2), 189-206.
- Lee, M., & Bartkowski, J. (2001). Love Thy Neighbor? Moral Communities, Civic Engagement, and Juvenile Homicide in Rural Areas. *Social Forces*, 82(3), 1001-1035.
- Leerkes, A. & Bernasco, W. (2010). The spatial concentration of illegal residence and neighborhood safety. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 32(3) 367-392.
- Liberman, A. (2007). Adolescents, Neighborhoods and Violence: Recent Findings from the Project on Human Development in Chicago Neighborhoods. Research in Brief, September, 2007. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Lieven Pauwels, Gerben Bruinsma, Frank Weerman & Wim Hardyns (2018), *Research on Neighborhoods in a European Cities*, in: Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & Shane J. Johnson (eds.), The Oxford Handbook on Environmental Criminology, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 345-377.
- Lind, A. (1930). Some Ecological Patterns of Community Disorganization in Honolulu. *American Journal of Sociology*, *36*(2), 206-220.
- Martínez, R., Rosenfeld, R., & Mares, D. (2008). Social disorganization, drug market activity, and neighborhood violent crime. *Urban Affairs Review*, *43*(6), 846-874.

- Mason, M., & Mennis, J. (2010). An exploratory study of the effects of neighborhood characteristics on adolescent substance use. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 18(1), 33-50.
- Mears, D., Wang, X., Hay, C., & Bales, W. (2008). Social Ecology and Recidivism: Implications for prisoner reentry. *Criminology*, 46(2), 301-340.
- Mennis, J., Harris, P., Obradovic, Z., Izenman, A., Grunwald, H. & Lockwood, B. (2011). The Effect of Neighborhood Characteristics on Spatial Spillover on Urban Juvenile Delinquency and Recidivism. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 174-192.
- Messner, S., & Tardiff, K. (1986). The Social Ecology of Urban Homicide: An Application of the "Routine Activities" Approach. *Criminology*, 22, 241-67.
- Miethe, T., Hughes, M., & McDowall, D. (1991). Social Change and Crime Rates: An Evaluation of Alternative Theoretical Approaches. *Social Forces*, 70(1), 165-185.
- Morenoff, J., Sampson, R., & Raudenbush, S. (2001). Neighborhood Inequality, Collective Efficacy, and the Spatial Dynamics of Urban Violence. *Criminology*, 39(3), 517-559.
- Pegram, K., Brunson, R. K., & Braga, A. A. (2016). The doors of the church are now open: Black clergy, collective efficacy, and neighborhood violence. *City & Community*, 15(3), 289-314.
- Peterson, R.D. & Krivo, L.J. (2009). Segregated Spatial Locations, Race-Ethnic Composition, and Neighborhood Violent Crime. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences*, 623(1), 93-107.
- Porter, JR; Purser, CW. (2010). Social disorganization, marriage, and reported crime: A spatial econometrics examination of family formation and criminal offending, Journal of Criminal Justice, 38(5), 942-950.
- Reynald, D. (2008). Do Social Barriers Affect Urban Crime Trips? The Effects of Ethnic and Economic Neighbourhood Compositions on the Flow of Crime in The Hague, The Netherlands, *Built Environment*, *34*(1), 21-31.
- Reiss, A. Jr., & Tonry, M. (Eds.). (1987). *Communities and Crime. Crime and Justice: Review of Research* 8. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Reuter, P., & MacCoun, R. (1992). Street Drug Markets in Inner-City Neighborhoods: Matching policy to reality. In J. Steinberg, D. Lyon, & M. Vaiana. (Eds.). *Urban America: Policy choices for Los Angeles and the nation*. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.
- Sampson, R. (1985). Neighborhood and Crime: The Structural Determinants of Personal Victimization. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 22(1), 7-40.
- Sampson, R. (1995). The Community. In J. Wilson & J. Petersilia (Eds.). *Crime*. San Francisco, CA: ICS Press.
- Sampson, R., & Bartusch, D. (1998). Legal Cynicism and (Subcultural?) Tolerance of Deviance: The Neighborhood Context of Racial Differences. *Law and Society Review*, *32*(4), 777-804.
- Sampson, R., & Groves, W. (1989). Community Structure and Crime: Testing Social Disorganization Theory. *American Journal of Sociology*, *94*(4), 774-802.
- Sampson, R.J. (2009). Disparity and diversity in the contemporary city: Social (dis)order revisited. *British Journal of Sociology*, 60:1, 1-31
- Sampson, R., & Lauritsen, J. (1990). Deviant Lifestyles, Proximity of Crime and the Offender-Victim link in Personal Violence. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 27, 110-139.

- Scarborough, B., Like-Haislip, T., Novak, K., Lucas, W., & Alarid, L. (2010). Assessing the relationship between individual characteristics, neighborhood context, and fear of crime. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *38*(40), 819-826.
- Sharkey, P & Sampson, RJ. (2010). Destination Effects Residential Mobility and Trajectories of Adolescent Violence in a Stratified Metropolis, *Criminology*, 48(3), 639-681.
- Shaw, C., & McKay, H. (1942). Juvenile Delinquency and Urban Areas: A Study of Rates of Delinquents in Relation to Differential Characteristics of Local Communities in American Cities. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Shaw, C., & McKay, H. (1972). *Delinquency and Urban Areas*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Shaw, C., Zorbaugh, F., McKay, H., & Cottrell, L. (1929). *Delinquency Areas*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Shihadeh, E., & Flynn, N. (1996). Segregation and Crime: The Effect of Black Social Isolation on the Rates of Black Urban Violence. *Social Forces*, 74(4), 1325-1352.
- Skogan, W. (1990). Disorder and Decline: Crime and the spiral of decay in American neighborhoods. New York: Free Press.
- Small, M. L. (2007). Racial Differences in Networks: Do Neighborhood Conditions Matter? *Social Science Quarterly*, 88(2), 320-343.
- Smith, D., & Jarjoura, G. R. (1988). Social Structure and Criminal Victimization. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 25(1), 27-52.
- Stahler, G., Mazzella, S., Mennis, J., Chakravorty, S., Rengert, G., & Spiga, R. (2007). The Effect of Individual, Program, and Neighborhood Variables on Continuity of Treatment Among Dually Diagnosed Individuals. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 87, 54-62.
- Stretesky, P., Schuck, A., & Hogan, M. (2004). Space Matters: An Analysis of Poverty, Poverty Clustering, and Violent Crime. *Justice Quarterly*, 21(4), 817-841.
- Storr, C. L., Chen, C-Y, & Anthony, J. C. (2004). "Unequal Opportunity:" Neighborhood disadvantage and the chance to buy illegal drugs. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 58, 231-257.
- Taylor, R.B. (2009). Potential Models for Understanding Crime Impacts of High or Increasing Unoccupancy Rates in Unexpected Places, and How to Prevent Them
- Taylor, R. (1997). Social Order and Disorder of Street Blocks and Neighborhoods: Ecology, Microecology, and the Systemic Model of Social Disorganization. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 34(1),113-155.
- Taylor, R., Gottfredson, S., & Brower, S. (1984). Block Crime and Fear: Defensible Space, Local Social Ties and Territorial Functioning. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 21(4), 303-331.
- Taylor, J., Twigg, L. & Mohan, J. (2010). Investigating Perceptions of Antisocial Behaviour and Neighbourhood Ethnic Heterogeneity in the British Crime Survey. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 35(1), 59-75.
- Warner, B. (2003). The Role of Attenuated Culture in Social Disorganization Theory. *Criminology*, 41, 73-97.
- Weisburd, D., Davis, M., & Gill, C. (2015). Increasing collective efficacy and social capital at crime hot spots: New crime control tools for police. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 9(3), 265-274.

- Weisburd, D., Gill, C., Wooditch, A., Barritt, W., & Murphy, J. (2020). Building collective action at crime hot spots: Findings from a randomized field experiment. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 1-31.
- Weisburd, D., Groff, E. R., & Yang, S. M. (2014). Understanding and controlling hot spots of crime: The importance of formal and informal social controls. *Prevention science*, *15*(1), 31-43.
- Weisburd, D., Shay, M., Amram, S., & Zamir, R. (2017). *The Relationship Between Social Disorganization and Crime at the Micro Geographic Level: Findings From Tel Aviv-Yafo Using Israeli Census Data 1*. In Unraveling the Crime-Place Connection, Volume 22 (pp. 97-119). Routledge.
- Weisburd, D., White, C., & Wooditch, A. (2020). Does Collective Efficacy Matter at the Micro Geographic Level?: Findings From a Study Of Street Segments. *The British Journal of Criminology*.
- Wickes, R., & Hipp, J. R. (2018). The spatial and temporal dynamics of neighborhood informal social control and crime. *Social Forces*, *97*(1), 277-308.
- Wickes, R., Hipp, J., Sargeant, E., & Mazerolle, L. (2017). Neighborhood social ties and shared expectations for informal social control: do they influence informal social control actions?. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, *33*(1), 101-129.
- Wilson, W. (1987). *The Truly Disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Wilson, W. (1996). When Work Disappears: The world of the new urban poor. New York: Knopf.
- Xie, M., & McDowall, D. (2008). The effect of residential turnover on household victimization. *Criminology*, 46(3), 539-575.

# Environmental Criminology

- Benforado, A. (2010). The Geography of Criminal Law. Cardozo Law Review, 31(3).
- Boessen, A., & Hipp, J. R. (2018). Parks as crime inhibitors or generators: examining parks and the role of their nearby context. *Social science research*, 76(1), 186-201.
- Bottoms, A., & Wiles, P. (1994). *Environmental Criminology*. In M. Maguire, R. Morgan, & R. Reiner (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Criminology*. London: Oxford University Press.
- Bowers, K. J., Johnson, S. D., Pease, K. (2005). Victimisation risk, housing type and area: the ecological fallacy lives! *Crime Prevention and Community Safety* 7(1), 7-17.
- Brantingham, P.J., & Brantingham, P.L. (1998). Environmental Criminology: From Theory to Urban Planning Practice. *Studies on Crime & Crime Prevention*, 7(1), 31-60.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. Environment, Routine and Situation: Toward a Pattern Theory of Crime.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (1995). Criminality of Place: Crime generators and crime attractors. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, *3*, 1-26
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (1984). Patterns in Crime. New York: Macmillan.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (Eds.). (1981). *Environmental Criminology*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Brewer Jr., S. (2010). Environmental Criminology and Crime Analysis. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 21(3), 384-387.

- Brisman, A. (2008). Crime-Environment Relationship and Environmental Justice. *Seattle Journal of Social Justice*, *6*, 727-818.
- Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & Shane J. Johnson (eds.) (2018), *The Oxford Handbook on Environmental Criminology*, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press.
- Foster, S. & Gilles-Corti, B. (2008). The Built Environment, Neighborhood Crime and Constrained Physical Activity: An Exploration of Inconsistent Findings. *Preventative Medicine*, 47(3), 241-251.
- Gerben J.N. Bruinsma & Lieven Pauwels (2018), *The Added Value of the Criminology of Place to the Research Agenda of Environmental Criminology: Core Propositions for Unexplained Mechanisms*, in: Weisburd D. & J. Eck (eds.), Unraveling the Crime-Place Connection, Published in the series 'Advances in Criminological Theory (Freda Adler and William Laufer', eds.) by Taylor/Francis Publishers.
- Gerben J.N. Bruinsma, & Shane Johnson (2018), *Environmental Criminology: History, Scope and State of the Art*, In: Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & Shane J. Johnson (eds.), The Oxford Handbook on Environmental Criminology, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 1-31.
- Haberman, C.P., Clutter, J., & Henderson, S. (2018). A quasi-experimental evaluation of the impact of bike-sharing stations on micro-level robbery occurrence. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *14*(2), 227-240.
- Hutta J S, 2009, Geographies of Geborgenheit: Beyond Feelings of Safety and the Fear of Crime. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 27(2), 251 273.
- Jeffrey, C. (1971). Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Johnson, S. D., & Bowers, K. J. (2010). Permeability and Crime Risk: Are cul-de-sacs safer? *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 89-111.
- Kim, Y. A., & Hipp, J. R. (2019). Pathways: Examining Street Network Configurations, Structural Characteristics and Spatial Crime Patterns in Street Segments. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 1-28.
- Kim, Y. A., & Hipp, J. R. (2020). Street egohood: An alternative perspective of measuring neighborhood and spatial patterns of crime. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 36(1), 29-66
- Limbos, M.A. & Casteel, C. (2008). Schools and Neighborhoods: Organizational and Environmental Factors Associated with Crime in Secondary Schools. *Journal of School Health*, 78(10), 539-544.
- Madensen, T. (2009). Environmental Criminology and Crime Analysis. International Criminal *Justice Review*, 19(2), 225-226.
- Matthews S A, Yang T-C, Hayslett K L, Ruback R B, 2010, "Built Environment and Property Crime in Seattle, 1998 2000: A Bayesian Analysis" *Environment and Planning A*, 42(6), 1403 1420.
- Moos, R. H. (1976). *The Human Context: Environmental Determinants of Behavior*. New York: Wiley Interscience.
- Newman, O. (1972). Defensible Space: Crime Prevention Through Urban Design. New York: Macmillan.
- Rengert, G. F. (2015). Residential burglary: How the urban environment and our lifestyles play a contributing role. Charles C Thomas Publisher.

- Reynald, D.M. & Elffers, H. (2009). The Future of Newman's Defensible Space Theory: Linking Defensible Space and the Routine Activities of Place. *European Journal of Criminology*, 6(1), 25-46.
- Roman, C.G. & Chalfin, A. (2008). Fear of Walking Outdoors: A Multilevel Ecological Analysis of Crime and Disorder. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, *34*(4), 306-312.
- Schneider, R. (2005). Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design: Themes, Theories, Practice, and Conflict. *Journal of Architectural & Planning Research*, 22(4), 271-357.
- Stummvoll, G. (2009). Environmental Criminology and Crime Analysis. *Crime Prevention & Community Safety*, 11(2), 144-146.
- Weerman, F., L. Pauwels, E. Hoeben, W. Bernasco & G.J.N. Bruinsma (2018), *Studying Situational Effects of Setting Characteristics: Examples from the Study of Peers, Activities and Neighbourhoods*, In: Bruinsma, Gerben J.N. & Shane J. Johnson (eds.), The Oxford Handbook on Environmental Criminology, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, 600-628.
- Wortley, R., & Mazerolle, L. (Eds.). (2008). *Environmental Criminology and Crime Analysis*. Cullompton, Devon: Willan.

#### **Routine Activities Theory**

- Bosse, T., Elffers, H., & Gerritsen, C. (2010). Simulating the dynamical interaction of offender, targets and guardians. *Crime Patterns & Analysis*, *3*(1), 51-66.
- Cohen, L., & Felson, M. (1979). Social Change and Crime Rate Trends: A routine activity approach. *American Sociological Review*, 44, 588-605.
- Clark, R., & Felson, M. (Eds.). (2004). Routine Activity and Rational Choice. Advances in Criminological Theory, Vol. 5. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books.
- Crank, J., Koski, C., Johnson, M., Ramirez, E., Shelden, A., & Peterson, S. (2010). Hot Corridors, Deterrence, and Guardianship: An Assessment of the Omaha Metro Safety Initiative. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 38(4), 430-438.
- Eck, J. (1995). Examining Routine Activity Theory: A Review of Two Books. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 783-797.
- Felson, M. (1987). Routine Activities and Crime Prevention in the Developing Metropolis. *Criminology*, 25, 911-931.
- Felson, M. (2009). Crime and everyday life. Sage: Thousand Oaks: CA.
- Felson, M. (1994). *Crime and Everyday Life: Insights and Implications for Society*. Newbury Park, CA: Pine Forge Press.
- Groff, E. (2008). Adding the Temporal and Spatial Aspects of Routine Activities: A Further Test of Routine Activity Theory. *Security Journal*, 21(1/2), 95-116.
- Kennedy, L., & Forde, D. (1990). Routine Activities and Crime. Criminology, 28, 137-151
- Miethe, T., Stafford, M., & Long, J. S. (1987). Social differentiation in criminal victimization: A test of routine activities and lifestyle theories. *American Sociological Review*, 52, 184-194.
- Olaghere, A., & Lum, C. (2018). Classifying "Micro" Routine Activities of Street Level Drug Transactions. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 55(4), 466-492.
- Osgood, D. W., Wilson, J., OMalley, P., Bachman, J., & Johnston, L. (1996). Routine Activities and Individual Deviant Behavior. *American Sociological Review*, 61, 35-655.

- Rengert, G., Lockwood, B., & Groff, E. R. (2015). *Burglary in a Segregated City: Race of Offenders and Community of Offending*. In The Criminal Act (pp. 214-239). Palgrave Macmillan, London.
- Reynald, D. (2010). Guardians on Guardianship: Factors Affecting the Willingness to Supervise, the Ability to Detect Potential Offenders, and the Willingness to Intervene. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 47(3), 358-390.
- Reynald, D.M. (2009). Guardianship in action: Developing a new tool for measurement. *Crime* prevention and community safety, 11, 1-20.
- Reynald, D. (2011). Factors Associated with the Guardianship of Places: Assessing the Relative Importance of the Spatio-Physical and Sociodemographic Contexts in Generating Opportunities for Capable Guardianship. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 48(1), 110-142.
- Sagovsky, A., Johnson, S. (2007). When Does Repeat Burglary Victimisation Occur?. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology* 40(1), 1-26.
- Sampson, R., Eck, J., & Dunham, J. (2010). Super Controllers and Crime Prevention: A Routine Activity Explanation of Crime Prevention Success and Failure. *Security Journal*, 23(1), 37-51.
- Schnell, C., Grossman, L., & Braga, A. A. (2019). The routine activities of violent crime places: A retrospective case-control study of crime opportunities on street segments. *Journal of criminal justice*, 60, 140-153.
- Sherman, L., Gartin, P., & Buerger, M. (1989). Hot Spots of Predatory Crime: Routine Activities and the Criminology of Place. *Criminology*, 27(1), 27 56.
- Weerman, F., Pauwels, L., Bernasco, W., & Bruinsma. G. (2016), Gender Differences in Delinquency and Situational Action Theory: A Partial Test, *Justice Quarterly*, 33(7):1182-1209.

#### 2. CRIME SPECIALIZATION AND CONCENTRATION AT PLACES

- Baller, R., Anselin, L., Messner, S., Deane, G., & Hawkins, D. (2001). Structural Covariates of U.S. County Homicide Rates: Incorporating Spatial Effects. *Criminology*, 39(3), 561-590.
- Bernasco, W. & Block, R. (2011). Robberies in Chicago: A Block-Level Analysis of the Influence of Crime Generators, Crime Attractors, and Offender Anchor Points. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 48(1), 33-57.
- Bernasco, W., & Jacques, S. (2015). Where do dealers solicit customers and sell them drugs? A micro-level multiple method study. *Journal of Contemporary criminal justice*, 31(4), 376-408.
- Bernasco, W., Johnson, S.D., and Ruiter, S. (2015). Learning where to offend: Effects of past on future burglary locations. *Applied Geography*, 60, 120-129.
- Boba, R., & Santos, R. (2008). A Review of the Research, Practice, and Evaluation of Construction Site Theft Occurrence and Prevention: Directions for Future Research. *Security Journal*, 21(4), 246-263.
- Braga, A., Papachristos, A., & Hureau, D. (2010). The Concentration and Stability of Gun Violence at Micro Places in Boston, 1980–2008. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 33-53.
- Canter, D., & Larkin, P. (1993). The Environmental Range of Serial Rapists. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 13(1), 63-69.
- Ceccato, V., & Oberwittler, D. (2008). Comparing Spatial Patterns of Robbery: Evidence from a Western and an Eastern European City. *Cities*, 25(4), 185-196.
- Clutter, J. E., & Henderson, S., & Haberman, C.P. (2019). The impact of business improvement district proximity on street block robbery counts. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(8): 1050-1075.
- Weinborn, C., Ariel, B., Sherman, L., & Dwyer, E. (2017) 'Hotspots vs. harmspots: Shifting the focus from counts to harm in the criminology of place.' Applied Geography 86: 226-244.
- Eck, J. (1994). Drug Markets and Drug Places: A Case-Control Study of the Spatial Structure of *Illicit Drug Dealing* (Doctoral dissertation). College Park, MD: Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice, University of Maryland.
- Eck, J. (1998). Preventing Crime by Controlling Drug Dealing on Private Rental Property. *Security Journal*, 11(4), 37-43.
- Erlanson, O. (1940). The Scene of a Sex Offense as Related to the Residence of the Offender. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 31(3), 339-342.
- Freisthler, B., Gruenewald, P. J., Johnson, F. W., Treno, A. J., & Lascala, E. A. (2005). An exploratory study examining the spatial dynamics of illicit drug availability and rates of drug use. *Journal of Drug Education*, 35, 15-27.
- Figlio, R., Hakim, S., & Rengert, G. (Eds.). (1986). *Metropolitan Crime Patterns*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Frith, M., Johnson, S.D., and Fry, H. (2017). The role of the street network in offender spatial decision making. *Criminology*, 55(2): 344-376.
- Gorman, DM; Freisthler, B. (2008). Special Issue on Ecologic Studies of Substance Use and Misuse Introduction, Substance. *Use & Misuse*, 43(2), 155-158.

- Gill, C., Wooditch, A., & Weisburd, D. (2017). Testing the "law of crime concentration at place" in a suburban setting: Implications for research and practice. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(3), 519-545.
- Griffiths, E., & Chavez, J. (2004). Communities, Street Guns, and Homicide in Chicago, 1980-1995: Merging Methods for Examining Homicide Trends Across Space and Time, 1980-1995. *Criminology*, 42(4), 941-978.
- Groff, E., & McEwen, T. (2006). Exploring the Spatial Configuration of Places Related to Homicide Events. Final Report. Alexandria, VA: Institute for Law and Justice.
- Groff, E., Wartell, J., & McEwen, T. (2001). *An Exploratory Analysis of Homicides in Washington, D.C.* Paper presented at the American Society of Criminology Conference. Atlanta, GA.
- Guerry, A. (1833). Essai sur la Statisticque morale de la France. Paris: Crochard.
- Haberman, C. P., Sorg, E. T., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2017). Assessing the validity of the law of crime concentration across different temporal scales. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(3), 547-567.
- Hannon, L. (2005). Extremely Poor Neighborhoods and Homicide. *Social Science Quarterly*, 86,1418-1434.
- Harrison, L., & Backenheimer, M. (1998). Research Careers in Unraveling the Drug-Crime Nexus in the United States. *Substance Use and Misuse*, *33*(9), 1763-2003.
- Hepenstal, S. & Johnson, S.D. (2010). The Concentration of Cash-in-Transit Robbery. *Crime Prevention and Community Safety*, 12, 263-282
- Hilborn, J. (2009). Dealing with Crime and Disorder in Urban Parks. *Problem-oriented Guides for Police Response Guide Series*. COPS Office, US DOJ: Washington, DC.
- Hipp, J. R., & Kim, Y. A. (2017). Measuring crime concentration across cities of varying sizes: Complications based on the spatial and temporal scale employed. Journal of quantitative criminology, 33(3), 595-632.
- Hotte, L. & Ypersele, T.Y. (2008). Individual Protection Against Property Crime: Decomposing the Effects of Protection Observability. *Canadian Journal of Economix*, 41(2) 537-563.
- Johnson, S., & Bowers, K. (2010). Permeability and Burglary Risk: Are Cul-de-Sacs Safer?. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 89-111.
- Johnson, S.D. (2008). Repeat burglary victimization: A Tale of Two Theories. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 4(3), 215-240.
- Kohm, S. (2009). Spatial Dimensions of Fear in a High-Crime Community: Fear of Crime or Fear of Disorder? *Canadian Journal of Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 51(1), 1-30.
- Lasnier, B., Brochu, S., Boyd, N., & Fischer, B. (2010). A Heroin Prescription Trial: Case Studies from Montreal and Vancouver on Crime and Disorder in the Surrounding Neighbourhoods. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 21(1), 28-35.
- LeBeau, J. (1987). The Methods and Measures of Centrography and the Spatial Dynamics of Rape. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *3*, 125-141.
- LeBeau, J. (1992). Four Case Studies Illustrating the Spatial-Temporal Analysis of Serial Rapists. *Police Studies*, *15*, 124-145.
- Leshem, R., & Weisburd, D. (2019). Epigenetics and hot spots of crime: Rethinking the relationship between genetics and criminal behavior. Journal of contemporary criminal justice, 35(2), 186-204.
- Lipton, R; Banerjee, A; Levy, D; Manzanilla, N; Cochrane, M. (2008). The spatial distribution of underage tobacco sales in Los Angeles. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 43(11), 1597-1617.

- Livingston, M. (2008). Alcohol outlet density and assault: a spatial analysis. *Addiction*, 103(4), 619-628.
- Lum, C. (2008). The Geography of Drug Activity and Violence: Analyzing Spatial Relationships of Non-Homogenous Crime Populations. *Substance Abuse and Misuse*, *43*, 195-218.
- Maas, B., Fairbairn, N., Kerr, D., Li, K., Montaner, J. S. G., & Wood, E. (2007). Neighborhood and HIV infections among IDU: Place of residence independently predicts HIV infections among a cohort of drug users. *Health & Place*, *13*, 432-439.
- Madensen, T., & Eck, J. (2008). Violence in Bars: Exploring the Impact of Place Manager Decision-Making. *Crime Prevention & Community Safety*, 10(2), 111-125.
- McConnell, P. (2005). *The Geometry of Homicide in Philadelphia: Findings and Implications for Criminal Mobility Research*. Paper presented at American Society of Criminology, 2005 Annual Meeting. Toronto, Canada.
- McCord, E., & Ratcliffe, J. (2007). A Micro-Spatial Analysis of the Demographic and Criminogenic Environment of Drug Markets in Philadelphia. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 40(1), 43-63.
- Mencken, F. C., & Barnett.C. (1999). Murder, Nonnegligent Manslaughter, and Spatial Autocorrelation in Mid- South Counties. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *15*(4), 407-422.
- Messner, S., Anselin, L., Baller, R., Hawkins, D., Deane, G., & Tolnay, S. (1999). The Spatial Patterning of County Homicide Rates: An application of Exploratory Spatial Data Analysis. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 15, 423-450.
- Mustaine, E., & Tewksbury, R. (1998). Predicting Risks of Larceny Theft Victimization: A Routine Activity Analysis using Refined Lifestyle Measures. *Criminology*, 36(4), 829-57.
- Newton, A. and Bowers, K. (2007) The Geography of Bus Shelter Damage: The Influence of Crime, Neighbourhood Characteristics and Land-Use. *Internet Journal of Criminology*.
- Newton, A. D., Johnson, S. D., Bowers, K. J. (2004). Crime on bus routes:an evaluation of a safertravel initiative. *Policing: an International Journal of Policing Strategies and Management* 27(3), 302-319.
- Normandeau, A. (1968). Trends and Patterns in Crimes of Robbery (With Special Reference to Philadelphia Pennsylvania, 1960 to 1966). Doctoral Dissertation. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania.
- Porter, L. C., De Biasi, A., Mitchell, S., Curtis, A., & Jefferis, E. (2019). Understanding the criminogenic properties of vacant housing: A mixed methods approach. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 56(3), 378-411.
- Pridemore, W.A. & Grubesic, T. H. (). Alcohol outlets and community levels of interpersonal violence: Spatial density, type of outlet, and seriousness of assault.
- Radil, S. M., Flint, C. & Tita, G. E. (forthcoming). Spatializing Social Networks: Using Social Network Analysis to Investigate Geographies of Gang Rivalry, Territoriality, and Violence in Los Angeles. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*.
- Randa, R; Wilcox, P. (2010). School Disorder, Victimization, and General v. Place-Specific Student Avoidance. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *38*(5), 854-861.
- Ratcliffe, J., & McCullagh, M. (1999). Burglary, Victimisation, and Social Deprivation. *Crime Prevention and Safety*, 1(2), 37-46.
- Rengert, G. (1996). The Geography of Illegal Drugs. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Rengert, G. (1997). Auto Theft in Philadelphia. In R. Homel (Ed). *Policing for Prevention: Reducing Crime, Public Intoxication and Injury.* Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.

- Rengert, G. F., Chakravorty, S., Bole, T., & Henderson, K. (2000). A Geographic Analysis of Illegal Drug Markets. In M. Natarajan & M. Hough (Eds.). Illegal Drug Markets: From research to prevention policy. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Robinson, J. (2003). *The Drug Free Zones, The Police, Locations, and Trends in Drug Sales in Portland, Oregon, 1990-1998*. Doctoral Dissertation. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University.
- Schmitt, S., Phibbs, C., & Piette, J. (2003). The Influence of Distance on Utilization of Outpatient Mental Health Aftercare Following Inpatient Substance Abuse Treatment. *Addiction Behavior*, 28, 1183-1192.
- Sherman, L., Gartin, P., & Buerger, M. (1989). Hot Spots of Predatory Crime: Routine Activities and the Criminology of Place. *Criminology*, 27(1), 27 56.
- Tita, G. (1999). Mapping the Set Space of Urban Street Gangs. In E. H. Hendrix, B. Dent, & L. S., Turnbull (Eds.), *The Altas of Crime*. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx Press.
- Tita, G., Cohen, J, & Engberg, J. (2005). An Ecological Study of the Location of Gang Set Space. *Social Problems*, 52(2), 272-299.
- Umar, F., Johnson, S. D., & Cheshire, J. A. (2020). Assessing the Spatial Concentration of Urban Crime: An Insight from Nigeria. Journal of Quantitative Criminology, 1-20.
- Vaughan, A., Ly, M., Andresen, M., Wuschke, K., Hodgkinson, T., & Campbell, A. (2018). Concentrations and Specialization of Mental Health–Related Calls for Police Service. Victims & Offenders, 13(8), 1153–1170. https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2018.1512539
- Warren, J., Reboussin, R., Hazelwood, R., Cummings, A., Gibbs, N., & Trumbetta, S. (1998). Crime Scene and Distance Correlates of Serial Rape. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 14(1), 35.
- Weisburd, D. (2015). The law of crime concentration and the criminology of place. Criminology, 53(2), 133-157.
- Weisburd, D., & Amram, S. (2014). The law of concentrations of crime at place: the case of Tel Aviv-Jaffa. Police Practice and Research, 15(2), 101-114.
- Weisburd, D., & White, C. (2019). Hot spots of crime are not just hot spots of crime: Examining health outcomes at street segments. Journal of contemporary criminal justice, 35(2), 142-160.
- Weisburd, D., Cave, B., Nelson, M., White, C., Haviland, A., Ready, J., ... & Sikkema, K. (2018). Mean streets and mental health: Depression and post-traumatic stress disorder at crime hot spots. American journal of community psychology, 61(3-4), 285-295.
- Weisheit, R., & Wells, L. (2010). Methamphetamine Laboratories: The Geography of Drug Production. *Western Criminology Review*, 11(2), 9-26.
- Wolfgang, M. (1985). *Patterns in Criminal Homicide*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.

#### 3. CRIMINAL CAREERS OF PLACES

- Andresen, M. & Malleson, N. (2011). Testing the Stability of Crime Patterns: Implications for Theory and Policy. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 48(1), 58-82.
- Braga, A., Hureau, D., & Papachristos, A. (2011). The Relevance of Micro Places to Citywide Robbery Trends: A Longitudinal Analysis of Robbery Incidents at Street Corners and Block Faces in Boston. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 48(1), 7-32.
- Groff, E., Weisburd, D., & Morris, N.A. (2009). Where the Action Is at Places: Examining Spatio-Temporal Patterns of Juvenile Crime at Places Using Trajectory Analysis and GIS. In D. Weisburd (Eds.) *Putting crime in its place*. Springer,
- Groff, E., Weisburd, D., & Yang, S. (2010). Is it Important to Examine Crime Trends at a Local "Micro" Level?: A Longitudinal Analysis of Street to Street Variability in Crime Trajectories. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 7-32.
- Jose, R., & Hipp, J. (2017). Mental Illness as an Ecological Factor of Neighborhood Crime. Criminology, *Crim. Just. L & Soc'y, 18,* 39.
- Kurland, J., & Johnson, S. D. (2020). The Influence of Stadia and the Built Environment on the Spatial Distribution of Crime. Journal of Quantitative Criminology, in press.
- Livingston, M. (2008). A longitudinal analysis of alcohol outlet density and assault. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research.* 32(6), 1074-1079.
- Martinez, R., Stowell, J., & Lee, M. (2010). Immigration and Crime in an Era of Transformation: A Longitudinal Analysis of Homicides in San Diego Neighborhoods, 1980–2000. *Criminology*, 48(3), 797-829.
- Pyle, G. (1976). Spatial and Temporal Aspects of Crime in Cleveland, Ohio. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 20, 175-198.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2002). Aoristic Signatures and the Spatio-Temporal Analysis of High Volume Crime Patterns. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 18(1), 23.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2005). Detecting Spatial Movement of Intra-Region Crime Patterns Over Time. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 21(1), 103-123.
- Taylor, R. (1999). *Crime, Grime, Fear, and Decline: A Longitudinal Look*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Telep, C. W., & Hibdon, J. (2018). Community Crime Prevention in High-Crime Areas: The Seattle Neighborhood Group Hot Spots Project. *City & Community*, 17(4), 1143-1167.
- Weisburd, D., Bushway, S., Lum, C., & Yang, S. (2004). Trajectories of Crime at Places: A Longitudinal Study of Street Segments in the City of Seattle. *Criminology*, 42(2), 283-322.
- Weisburd, D., Groff, E. R., & Yang, S. M. (2017). The criminology of place: key contributions and commentary. Jerusalem Review of Legal Studies, 15(1), 61-76.
- Weisburd, D., Morris, N., & Groff, E. (2009). Hot Spots of Juvenile Crime: A Longitudinal Study of Arrest Incidents at Street Segments in Seattle, Washington. *Journal of Quarterly Criminology*.
- Wo, J. C., Hipp, J. R., & Boessen, A. (2016). Voluntary organizations and neighborhood crime: A dynamic perspective. *Criminology*, 54(2), 212-241.
- Yang, Sue-Ming. (2007). Causal or Merely Co-existing: A longitudinal Study of Violence and Disorder at Places. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Maryland, MD.

#### 4. GEOGRAPHIC STUDY OF CRIME

- Abeyie, D., & Harries, K. (Eds.). (1980). *Crime: A Spatial Perspective*. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Abler, R., Adams, J., & Gould, P. (1971). *Spatial Organization: The geographer's view of the world*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Andresen, M. (2011). The Ambient Population and Crime Analysis. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 193-212.
- Anselin, L., Cohen, J., Cook, D., Gorr, W., & Tita, G. (pp. 213-262). Spatial Analyses of Crime.
- Bernasco, W., & Steenbeek, W. (2017). More places than crimes: Implications for evaluating the law of crime concentration at place. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, 33(3), 451-467.
- Bowers, K. J. and Hirschfield, A. (1999): Exploring Links Between Crime and Disadvantage in North West England: an Analysis Using Geographical Information Systems, *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 13(2), 159-184.
- Brantingham-Patricia-L, & Brantingham-Paul-J. (1999). A theoretical model of crime hot spot generation. *Studies on Crime & Crime Prevention*, 8(1), 7-26.
- Brunsdon C, Corcoran J, Higgs G, Ware A, 2009, "The influence of weather on local geographical patterns of police calls for service" *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 36(5), 906 926.
- Curtis, A., Curtis, J. W., Porter, L. C., Jefferis, E., & Shook, E. (2016). Context and spatial nuance inside a neighborhood's drug hotspot: Implications for the crime—health nexus. Annals of the American Association of Geographers, 106(4), 819-836.
- Dahlback, O. (1996). Urban Places of Residence and Individual Criminality. *British Journal of Criminology*, 36(4), 529-545.
- Dong, B., White, C. M., & Weisburd, D. L. (2020). Poor health and violent crime hot spots: mitigating the undesirable co-occurrence through focused place-based interventions. American journal of preventive medicine.
- Filbert, K. (2008). Targeting Crime in Hot Spots and Hot Places, *Geography & Public Safety*, *1*(1), 4-7
- Georges-Abeyie, D., & Harries, K. (Eds.). (1980). *Crime: A Spatial Perspective*. New York, NY: *Drug Addiction* (pp. 17-26). New York: Springer.
- Getis, A. (2010). Spatial Filtering in a Regression Framework: Examples Using Data on Urban Crime, Regional Inequality, and Government Expenditures. *Advances in Spatial Science*, 2010, Part 4, 191-202
- Gibbs, J., & Martin, W. (1962). Urbanization, Technology, and the Division of Labor: International Patterns. *American Sociological Review*, 27, 667–677.
- Gottfredson, S., & Taylor, R. (1986). Person-Environment Interactions in the Prediction of Recidivism. In J. Byrne & R. Sampson (Eds.). *The Social Ecology of Crime* (pp. 133-155). New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Haberman, C. P., & Kelsay, J. D. (2020). The Topography of Robbery: Does Slope Matter?. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 1-21.
- Heitgerd, J., & Bursik, R. Jr. (1987). Extracommunity Dynamics and The Ecology of Delinquency. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 775-787.
- Hipp, J. R., Corcoran, J., Wickes, R., & Li, T. (2014). Examining the social porosity of environmental features on neighborhood sociability and attachment. *PloS one*, 9(1), 1-13.

- Hirschfield, A. and Bowers, K. (Eds) (2001) *Mapping and Analysing Crime Data: Lessons from Research and Practice*. Taylor and Francis: London.
- Hirschfield, A.F.G., Bowers, K.J. and Brown, P.J.B (1995): Exploring Relations Between Crime and Disadvantage on Merseyside, *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 3 (3), 93-112.
- Johnson, S.D. (2010). A Brief History of Crime Concentration. *European Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 21(4-5), 349-370.
- Kim, Y. A., & Hipp, J. R. (2018). Physical boundaries and city boundaries: consequences for crime patterns on street segments?. *Crime & Delinquency*, 64(2), 227-254.
- Malm, A., Kinney, J., & Pollard, N. (2008). Social Network and Distance Correlates of Criminal Associates Involved in Illicit Drug Production. *Security Journal*, 21(1/2), 77-94.
- Mason, M., & Korpela, K. (2009). Activity spaces and urban adolescent substance use and emotional health. *Journal of Adolescence*, 32(4), 925-939.
- Mason, M.J., Mennis, J., Coatsworth, J.D., Valente, T., Lawrence, F., & Pate, P. (2009). The relationship of place to substance use and perceptions of risk and safety in urban adolescents. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 29:4, 485-492
- Matthews, S. A., Detwiler, J. E., & Burton, L. M. (2006). Viewing people and places: Coupling geographic information analysis and ethnographic research. *Cartographica*, 40, 75-90.
- McConnell, P. (2008). *Toward a Holistic Vectored Geography of Homicide* (Doctoral dissertation). Temple University, Philadelphia, PA.
- McCord, E., Ratcliffe, J., Garcia, R., & Taylor, R. (2007). Nonresidential Crime Attractors and Generators Elevate Perceived Neighborhood Crime and Incivilities. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 44(3), 295-320.
- McLafferty, S. (2003). GIS and Health Care. Annual Reviews of Public Health, 24, 25-42.
- McLafferty, S. (2008). Placing Substance Abuse: Geographical Perspectives on Substance Use and Addiction. In Y. F Thomas, D. Richardson, & I Cheung (Eds.), *Geography and drug addiction* (pp. 1-16). New York: Springer.
- McLean, S., Worden, R., MoonSun, K., Garmley, T., & Bonner, H. (2010). Operation Safe Corridor: An Outcome Evaluation. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 21(3), 363-380.
- Lammers, M., & Bernasco, W. (2013). Are mobile offenders less likely to be caught? The influence of the geographical dispersion of serial offenders' crime locations on their probability of arrest. *European Journal of Criminology, 10*(2), 168-186.
- O'Flaherty, B. & Sethi, R. (2010). The Racial Geography of Street Vice. *Journal of Urban Studies*, 37, 270-286.
- Phillips, R. L., Kinman, E. L., Schnitzer, P. G., Lindbloom, E. J. & Ewingman, B. (2000). Using GIS to Understand Health Care Access. *Archives of Family Medicine*, *9*, 971-978.
- Piquero, A. & Weisburd, D. (2010) Handbook of Quantitative Criminology. Springer: New York, NY.
- Radil, SM; Flint, C; Tita, GE. (2010). Spatializing Social Networks: Using Social Network Analysis to Investigate Geographies of Gang Rivalry, Territoriality, and Violence in Los Angeles, *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 100(2), 307-326.
- Robinson, J.B. (2008). Crime and Regeneration in Urban Communities: The case of the big dig in Boston, Massachusetts. *Built Environment*, *34*(1), 46-61.
- Roh, S., & Robinson, M. (2009). A Geographic Approach to Racial Profiling: The Microanalysis and Macroanalysis of Racial Disparity in Traffic Stops. *Police Quarterly*, 12(2), 137-169.

- Roman, C., & Chalfin, A. (2008). Fear of walking outdoors: A multi-level ecological analysis of crime and disorder. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(4), 306-312.
- Rose, H. (1978). The Geography of Despair. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 68(3), 453-464.
- Sargin, S. & Temurcin, K. (2010). Crimes and Crime Dispersion in Urban Areas in Turkey. Bulletin of Geography, *Socio-economic series*, *13*, 59-77.
- Shihadeh, E.S. & Winters, L. (2010). Church, Place, and Crime: Latinos and Homicide in New Destinations. *Sociological Inquiry*, 80(4), 628-649.
- Shook, J.J. & Goodkind, S.A. (2009). Racial Disproportionality in Juvenile Justice: The Interaction of Race and Geography in Pretrial Detention for Violent and Serious Offenses. *Race and Social Problems*, 1(4), 257-266.
- Summers, L., Johnson, S.D., and Rengert, G. (2010). The Use of Maps in Offender Interviews. In W. Bernasco (Ed.) *Offender on Offending: Learning About Crime from Criminals*. Cullompton: Willan.
- Swartz, C. (1997). *The Spatial Analysis of Crime: A Review of the Literature*. Prepared for The Workshop of the Identification and Evaluation of Methods for Measuring and Analyzing Crime Patterns and Trends with GIS (February 28 March 1, 1997). Sponsored by the National Institute of Justice
- Thomas, Y., Richardson, D., & Cheung, I. (2008). Integrating Geography and Social Epidemiology in Drug Abuse Research. In Y. F. Thomas, D. Richardson, & I. Cheung (Eds.), *Geography and drug addiction* (pp. 1-16). New York: Springer.
- Vandeviver, C., & Bernasco, W. (2017). The geography of crime and crime control. *Applied geography*, 86, 220-225.
- Vilalta, CJ (2010). The Spatial Dynamics and Socioeconomic Correlates of Drug Arrests in Mexico City. *Applied Geography*, 30(2), 263-270.
- Wilson, R.E. & Paulson, D.J. (2008). Foreclosures and Crime: A Geographical Perspective. *Geography & Public Safety*, 1(3).

#### 5. PLACE AND TIME

- Barthe, E; Stitt, BG, (2009). Temporal Distributions of Crime and Disorder in Casino and Non-Casino Zones. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 25(2), 139-152.
- Berg, M.T. (2009) Understanding the Persistence of the Victimization-Offending Relationship: Modeling Causal Mechanisms Across Place and Time. Dissertation abstract
- Block, C., & Block, R. (1980). *Patterns of Change in Chicago Homicide: The twenties, the sixties and the seventies* (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: Statistical Analysis Center, Illinois Law Enforcement Commission.
- Block, C., & Block, R. (1985). *Lethal violence in Chicago over Seventeen Years: Homicides Known to the Police*, 1965-1981. Chicago, IL: Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- Boessen, A., Hipp, J. R., Butts, C. T., Nagle, N. N., & Smith, E. J. (2017). Social fabric and fear of crime: Considering spatial location and time of day. *Social Networks*, *51*, 60-72.
- Bradshaw, B., Johnson, D., Cheatwood, D., & Blanchard, S. (1998). A Historical Geographical Study of Lethal Violence in San Antonio. *Social Science Quarterly*, 79(4), 863-878.
- Ceccato, V. (2005). Homicide in São Paulo, Brazil: Assessing spatial-temporal and weather variations. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 25, 307-321.
- Contreras, C., & Hipp, J. R. (2020). Drugs, crime, space, and time: A spatiotemporal examination of drug activity and crime rates. *Justice Quarterly*, *37*(2), 187-209.
- Dong, B., Branas, C. C., Richmond, T. S., Morrison, C. N., & Wiebe, D. J. (2017). Youth's daily activities and situational triggers of gunshot assault in urban environments. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 61(6), 779-785.
- Dong, B., Morrison, C. N., Branas, C. C., Richmond, T. S., & Wiebe, D. J. (2019). As Violence Unfolds: A Space—Time Study of Situational Triggers of Violent Victimization Among Urban Youth. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 36, 1-34.
- Griffiths, E., & Chavez, J. (2004). Communities, Street Guns, and Homicide in Chicago, 1980-1995: Merging Methods for Examining Homicide Trends Across Space and Time, 1980-1995. *Criminology*, 42(4), 941-978.
- Grubesic, T., & Mack, E. (2008). Spatio-Temporal Interaction of Urban Crime. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 24(3), 285-306.
- Haberman, C.P., & Ratcliffe, J.H. (2015). Testing for temporally differentiated relationships among potentially criminogenic places and census block street robbery counts. *Criminology*, *53*(3): 457-483.
- Haberman, C.P., Sorg, E.T., & Ratcliffe, J.H. (2018). The seasons they are a changin': Testing for seasonal effects of potentially criminogenic places on street robbery. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 55(3): 425-459.
- Hipp, J. R., Bates, C., Lichman, M., & Smyth, P. (2019). Using social media to measure temporal ambient population: does it help explain local crime rates?. *Justice Quarterly*, *36*(4), 718-748.
- Hoeben, E. M., Bernasco, W., Weerman, F. M., Pauwels, L., & van Halem, S. (2014). The space-time budget method in criminological research. *Crime Science*, *3*(1), 12.
- Johnson, D.A. (2008) 'Contra crime mapping: spatial and temporal mapping of predicted future crime locations, creating pro-active enforcement and reduction opportunities'. The Stockholm Criminology Symposium, Stockholm.
- Johnson, S.D., Bowers, K.J., and Lab, S. (2008). The Stability of Crime Hotspots: Demonstration and Diagnosis. *Built Environment*, 34(1), 32-46.

- Leitner, M., Barnett, M., Kent, J., & Barnett, T. (2011). The Impact of Hurricane Katrina on Reported Crimes in Louisiana: A Spatial and Temporal Analysis. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 244-261.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2002). Aoristic Signatures and the Spatio-Temporal Analysis of High Volume Crime Patterns. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 18(1), 23.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2005). Detecting Spatial Movement of Intra-Region Crime Patterns Over Time. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 21(1), 103-123.
- Robinson, J., Lawton, B., Taylor, R., & Perkins, D. (2003). Multilevel Longitudinal Impacts of Incivilities: Fear of Crime, Expected Safety, and Block Satisfaction. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 19(3), 237-274.
- Sampson, R.J. (2008). Linking Time and Place: Dynamic Contextualism and the Future of Criminological Inquiry. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*,
- Swartz, C. (1997). *The Spatial Analysis of Crime: A Review of the Literature*. Prepared for The Workshop of the Identification and Evaluation of Methods for Measuring and Analyzing Crime Patterns and Trends with GIS (February 28 March 1, 1997). Sponsored by the National Institute of Justice
- Tompson, L. & Townsley, M. (2010) (Looking) Back to the future: Using Spacetime Patterns to Better Predict the Location of Street Crime. *International Journal of Police Science and Management*, 12(1), 23-40.
- Townsley, M. (2008). Visualising Space Time Patterns in Crime: The Hotspot Plot. *Crime Patterns and Analysis*, 61-74.
- Yang, S. (2010). Assessing the Spatial–Temporal Relationship Between Disorder and Violence. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 139-163.

## 6. SPECIFIC CRIMES, SPECIFIC PLACES, SPECIFIC SITUATIONS

- Anderson, E. (1990). *Streetwise: Race, Class and Change in an Urban Community*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Appleyard, D. (1981). Livable Streets. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Archibald, M. E. (2008). Exploring the Reciprocal Effects of Substance Abuse Treatment Provision and Area Substance Abuse. In D. Richardson & Y. Thomas (Eds). *Geography and Drug Addiction* (pp. 263-278). New York: Springer.
- Arnott, R., Anas, A., & Small, K. (1989). Urban Spatial Structure. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *36*, 1426-1464.
- Baller, R., Messner, S., Anselin, L., & Deane, G. (2002). The Interchangeability of Homicide Data Sources: A Spatial Analytical Perspective. *Homicide Studies*, 6(3), 211-227.
- Baudains, P., Braithwaite, A., and Johnson, S.D. (2013). Target Choice During Extreme Events: A Discrete Spatial Choice Model of the 2011 London Riots. *Criminology*, 51(2):251-285.
- Bernasco, W., Stijn Ruiter, Gerben J.N. Bruinsma, Lieven Pauwels, Frank Weerman (2013), Situational causes of offending: a fixed effect analysis of the space-time-budget data, *Criminology*, *51*(4): 895-926.
- Berry, B. J. (1967). *Geography of Market Centers and Retail Distribution*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Boggs, S. (1965). Urban Crime Patterns. American Sociological Review, 30(6), 899-908.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (1975). Residential Burglary and Urban Form. *Urban Studies*, 12(3), 273-284.
- Clarke, R., Field, S., & McGrath, G. (1991). Target Hardening of Banks in Australia and Displacement of Robberies. *Security Journal*, *2*, 84-90.
- Clarke, R., & Eck, J. (2007). *Understanding Risky Facilities*. Problem Specific Guide Series. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing, U.S. Department of Justice.
- Clarke, R., & Felson, M. (Eds.). (1996). *Business and Crime Prevention*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Cohen, J., Cork, D., Engberg, J., & Tita, G. (1998). The Role of Drug Markets and Gangs in Local Homicide Rates. *Homicide Studies*, 2(3), 241-262.
- Davis, R., Lurigio, A., & Rosenbaum, D. (Eds.). (1993). *Drugs and the community*. Springfield, IL: Charles Thomas Publishers.
- Duffala, D. (1976). Convenience Stores, Armed Robbery, and Physical Environmental Features. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 20(2), 227-246.
- Eck, J. Drug Market Places: How They Form and how They Can be Prevented. Brito, C., & Allen, T. (Eds.). (1999). Problem-Oriented Policing: Crime-Specific Problems, Critical Issues and Making POP Work (Volume II). Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- Eck, J., & Wartell, J. Improving the Management of Rental Properties With Drug Problems: A Randomized Experiment.
- Eck, J. Do Premises Liability Suits Promote Business Crime Prevention?
- Fagan, J. A. (pp. 19-54). The Political Economy of Drug Dealing Among Urban Gangs.
- Farrington, D., Bowen, S., Buckle, A., Burns-Howell, T., Burrows, J., & Speed, M. (1993). An Experiment on the Prevention of Shoplifting. In R. Clarke (Ed.). *Crime Prevention Studies Vol. 1* (pp. 93-119). Monsey, NY: Willow Tree Press

- Gerlinger, J., & Hipp, J. R. (2020). Schools and neighborhood crime: The effects of dropouts and high-performing schools on juvenile crime. *The Social Science Journal*, 1-17.
- Getis, A. & Getis, J. (1968). Retail Store Spatial Affinities. Urban Studies, 5, 317-322.
- Glasner, P., Johnson, S. D., & Leitner, M. (2018). A comparative analysis to forecast apartment burglaries in Vienna, Austria, based on repeat and near repeat victimization. *Crime Science*, 7(1), 9.
- Haberman, C.P. (2017). Overlapping hot spots? An examination of the spatial heterogeneity of hot spots of different crimes. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 16(2): 633-660.
- Hibdon, J., & Groff, E. R. (2014). What you find depends on where you look: Using emergency medical services call data to target illicit drug use hot spots. *Journal of contemporary criminal justice*, 30(2), 169-185.
- Hipp, J. R., & Kim, Y. A. (2019). Explaining the temporal and spatial dimensions of robbery: Differences across measures of the physical and social environment. *Journal of criminal justice*, 60(1), 1-12.
- Hipp, J. R., Williams, S. A., Kim, Y. A., & Kim, J. H. (2019). Fight or flight? Crime as a driving force in business failure and business mobility. *Social science research*, 82, 164-180.
- Hipp, J. R., Wo, J. C., & Kim, Y. A. (2017). Studying neighborhood crime across different macro spatial scales: The case of robbery in 4 cities. *Social science research*, 68(1), 15-29.
- Hodgkinson, T., & Andresen, M. (2019). Changing spatial patterns of residential burglary and the crime drop: The need for spatial data signatures. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 61, 90–100.
- Hodgkinson, T., Andresen, M., & Farrell, G. (2016). The decline and locational shift of automotive theft: A local level analysis. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 44, 49–57.
- Homel, R., & Clark, J. (1994). The Prediction and Prevention of Violence in Pubs and Clubs. In R. Clark (Ed.). *Crime Prevention Studies, Vol. 3.* Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Hunter, R. (1988). *Environmental Characteristics of Convenience Store Robberies in the State of Florida*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Criminology. Chicago, IL.
- Janssen, H., M. Deković, G.J.N. Bruinsma (2014), Parenting and time adolescents spend in criminogenic settings: A between- and within-person analysis, *British Journal of Criminology*, 54(4): 551-567.
- Janssen, Heleen, Gerben Bruinsma, Maja Deković & Veroni Eichelsheim, (2016), A Betweenand Within-Person Analysis of Parenting and Time Spent in Criminogenic Settings during Adolescence: The Role of Self-Control and Delinquent Attitudes, *Youth & Society*, 50(2):229-254.
- Janssen, Heleen, Veroni Eichelsheim, Maja Deković & Gerben Bruinsma (2016), How is parenting related to adolescent delinquency? A between- and within-person analysis of the mediating role of self-control, delinquent attitudes, peer delinquency, and time spent in criminogenic settings, *European Journal of Criminology*, *13*(2): 169–194.
- Kelsay, J. D., & Haberman, C. P. (2020). The Influence of Street Network Features on Robberies Around Public Housing Communities. *In press*.
- Kubrin, C. E., & Hipp, J. R. (2016). Do fringe banks create fringe neighborhoods? Examining the spatial relationship between fringe banking and neighborhood crime rates. *Justice Quarterly*, 33(5), 755-784.

- Madensen, T., & Eck, J. (2008). Violence in Bars: Exploring the Impact of Place Manager Decision-Making. *Crime Prevention and Community Safety*, 10(2), 111-125.
- Mason, M., Cheung, I., & Walker, L (2004). Substance use, social networks and the geography of urban adolescents. *Substance Use and Misuse*, 39, 1-27.
- Morrison, C. N., Dong, B., Branas, C. C., Richmond, T. S., & Wiebe, D. J. (2017). A momentary exposures analysis of proximity to alcohol outlets and risk for assault. *Addiction*, 112(2), 269-278.
- Papachristos, A. V., Braga, A. A., Piza, E., & Grossman, L. S. (2015). The company you keep? The spillover effects of gang membership on individual gunshot victimization in a co-offending network. *Criminology*, 53(4), 624-649.
- Ratcliffe, J. & Taniguchi, T. A. (In press). Is Crime Higher Around Drug-Gang Street Corners? Two Spatial Approaches to the Relationship Between Gang Set Spaces and Local Crime Levels. *Crime Patterns and Analysis*, 1(1).
- Reppetto, T. (1974). Residential Crime. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.
- Rengert, G., & Wasilchick, J. (1985). Suburban Burglary: A Time and a Place for Everything. Springfield, IL: Charles Thomas.
- Rice, K., & Smith, W. (2002). Socioecological Models of Automotive Theft: Integrating Routine Activity and Social Disorganization Approaches. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 39(3), 304-336.
- Roncek, D., & Bell, R. (1981). Bars, Blocks, and Crimes. *Journal of Environmental Systems*, 11(1), 35-47.
- Roncek, D., & Maier, P. (1991). Bars, Blocks and Crimes Revisited: Linking the Theory of Routine Activities to the Empiricism of "Hot Spots". *Criminology*, 29(4), 725-754.
- Rountree, P., & Land, K. (1996). Burglary Victimization, Perceptions of Crime Risk, and Routine Activities: A Multilevel Analysis Across Seattle Neighborhoods and Census Tracts. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 33(2), 147-180.
- Sampson, R., Morenoff, J., & Gannon-Rowley, T. (2002). Assessing "Neighborhood" Effects: Social processes and new directions in research. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 28, 443-478.
- Sampson, R., Raudenbusch, S., & Earls, F. (1997). Neighborhoods and Violent Crime: A multilevel study of collective efficacy. *Science*, 227, 918-924.
- Taylor, R.B., Haberman, C.P., & Groff, E.R. (2019). Urban park crime: Neighborhood context and park features. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *64*, 13-22.
- Vandeviver, C., & Bernasco, W. (2019). "Location, Location, Location": Effects of Neighborhood and House Attributes on Burglars' Target Selection. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 1-43.
- Walsh, W., Vito, G., Tewksbury, R., & Wilson, G. (2000). Fighting Back in Bright Leaf: Community Policing and Drug Trafficking in Public Housing. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 25(1), 77-92.
- Wallace, R. (1988). A Synergism of Plagues: "Planned shrinkage," contagious housing destruction, and AIDS in the Bronx. *Environmental Research*, 47, 1-33.
- Weekers, D., Mazerolle, L., & Zahnow, R. (2020). Space-time patterns of poaching risk: Using the near-repeat hypothesis to inform compliance enforcement in marine protected areas. *Biological Conservation*, 248, 108652.
- Weisburd, D., Green, L., Gajewski, F., and Bellucci, C. (1992). *Defining the Drug Market: The Case of the Jersey City DMAP System*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.

- Wellsmith, M., Birks, D., & Donkin, S. (2007). *Applying the concept of risky facilities to problems of violence in the night-time economy*. Retrieved from: http://www.jdi.ucl.ac.uk/downloads/publications/research\_reports/JDI\_Risky\_facilities% 20dec2007.pdf on November 8, 2010. UCL Dando Institute of Crime Science.
- White, C., & Goldberg, V. (2018). Hot spots of mental health crises. *Policing: An International Journal*.

#### 7. UNITS OF ANALYSIS FOR CRIME AND PLACE

- Boessen, A., & Hipp, J. R. (2015). Close-ups and the scale of ecology: Land uses and the geography of social context and crime. *Criminology*, *53*(3), 399-426.
- Bowers, K. J. (2001): Small Business Crime: the Evaluation of a Crime Prevention Initiative, *Crime Prevention and Community Safety: An International Journal*, 3(1), 23-42.
- Bowers, K. J., Lab, S., Johnson, S. D. (2008). Evaluating Crime Prevention Using Survival Analysis. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice* 2(2), 218-225.
- Bowers, K. J., Johnson, S. D., Hirschfield, A. F. G. (2004). Closing off Opportunities for Crime: An Evaluation of Alley-gating. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research* 10(4), 283-308.
- Downey, L. (2003). Spatial Measurement, Geography and Urban Racial Inequality. *Social Forces*, 81, 937-352.
- Duffee, D. (Ed.). (2000). *Measurement and Analysis of Crime and Justice, Vol. 4, Criminal Justice 2000*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice, Report No. 182411.
- Johnson, S. D., Bowers, K. J. (2003). Opportunity is in the eye of the beholder: the role of publicity in crime prevention. *Criminology and Criminal Policy* 2(3), 497-524.
- Schnell, C., Braga, A. A., & Piza, E. L. (2017). The influence of community areas, neighborhood clusters, and street segments on the spatial variability of violent crime in Chicago. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, 33(3), 469-496.
- Smith, W., Frazee, S., & Davidson, E. (2000). Furthering the Integration of Routine Activity and Social Disorganization Theories: Small Units of Analysis and the Study of Street Robbery as a Diffusion Process. *Criminology*, 38(2), 489-524.
- Taniguchi, T., Rengert, G., & McCord, E. (2009). Where Size Matters: Agglomeration Economies of Illegal Drug Markets in Philadelphia. *Justice Quarterly*, 26(4), 670-694.
- Tita, G.E. Greenbaum, R.T. (2009) Crime, Neighborhoods, and Units of Analysis: Putting Space in its Place. In D. Weisburd et al. (Eds.). *Putting Crime in its Place*. New York: Springer
- Weinborn, C., Ariel, B., Sherman, L., & O' Dwyer, E. (2017). Hotspots vs. harmspots: Shifting the focus from counts to harm in the criminology of place. *Applied Geography*, 86, 226–244.
- Weisburd, D., Bruinsma, G., & Bernasco, W. (Eds.). (2009). *Putting Crime in Its Place: Units of Analysis in Spatial Crime Research*. New York: Springer Verlag.
- Weisburd, D., & Gill, C. (2014). Block randomized trials at places: rethinking the limitations of small N experiments. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 30(1), 97-112.
- Wooldredge, J. (2002). Examining the (IR) Relevance of Aggregating Bias for Multilevel Studies of Neighborhood and Crime with an Example Comparing Census Tracts to Official Neighborhoods in Cincinnati. *Criminology*, 40(3), 681-709.

## 8. CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND CRIME PREVENTION AT PLACES

## Crime Prevention through Environmental Design

- Andresen, M., & Jenion, G. (2008). Crime Prevention and the Science of Where People Are. *Criminal Justice Policy Review, 19*(2), 164-180.Barker, M., Geraghty, J., & Webb, B. (1993). *The Prevention of Street Robbery*. Crime Prevention Unit Series Paper 44. London, UK: UK Home Office.
- Clarke, R., & Mayhew, P. (1980). *Designing Out Crime*. Home Office Research Study No. 65. London, UK: Home Office Research Unit.
- Reynald, D. (2011). Translating CEPTED into Crime Prevention Action: A Critical Examination of CPTED as a Tool for Active Guardianship. *European Journal on Criminal Policy & Research*. 17(1), 69-81.
- Sousa, W. H., & Madensen, T. D. (2016). Citizen acceptance of police interventions: an example of CCTV surveillance in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 29(1), 40-56.

#### Situational Crime Prevention

- Andresen, M., & Felson, M. (2010). Situational Crime Prevention and Co-Offending. *Crime Patterns & Analysis*, *3*(1), 3-13.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (1990). Situational Crime Prevention in Practice. *Canadian Journal of Criminology, January*, 17-40.
- Clarke, R. (1997). *Situational Crime Prevention: Successful case studies*. Guilderland, NY: Harrow and Heston.
- Clarke, R. (1995). Situational Crime Prevention: Achievements and challenges. In M. Tonry & D. Farrington (Eds.). *Building a Safer Society: Strategic approaches to crime prevention. Crime and justice: A Review of Research, Vol. 19.* Chicago, IL: Chicago University
- Clarke, R. (1983). Situational Crime Prevention: Its theoretical basis and practical scope. In M. Tonry & N. Morris (Eds.). *Crime and Justice: An Annual Review of Research, Vol. 14*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Clarke, R. (1980). Situational Crime Prevention: Theory and Practice. *British Journal of Criminology*, 20, 136-147.
- Eck, J. E., & Madensen-Herold, T. D. (2018). *Place management, guardianship, and the establishment of order*. Sage.
- Eck, J.E. Madenson, T., Payne, T., Wilcox, P., Fisher, B.S. & Scherer, H. (2010). Situational Crime Prevention at Specific Locations in Community Context: Place and Neighborhood effects. NIJ: Washington, DC.
- Felson, M., & Clarke, R. (1998). *Opportunity Makes the Thief: Practical Theory for Crime Prevention*. Police Research Series, Paper 98. London, UK: Home Office, Policing and Reducing Crime Unit.
- Graham, K. (2009). They Fight Because We Let Them! Applying a Situational Crime Prevention Model to Barroom Biolence. *Drug & Alcohol Review*, 28(2), 103-109.

- Haywood, J; Kautt, P; Whitaker, A. (2009). The Effects of 'Alley-Gating' in an English Town, *European Journal of Criminology*, 6(4), 361-381.
- LaFree, G., & Birkbeck, C. (1991). The Neglected Situation: A Cross-National Study of the Situational Characteristics of Crime. *Criminology*, 29(1), 73-98.
- Leclerc, B., Wortley, R., & Smallbone, S. (2011). Getting into the Script of Adult Child Sex Offenders and Mapping out Situational Crime Prevention Measures. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 48(2), 209-237.
- Natarajan, M., Clarke, R., Carcach, C., Ponce, C., de Sanfeliú, M. B., Polanco, D. E., ... & Shi, M. (2015). Situational prevention and public transport crime in El Salvador. *Crime Science*, 4-29.
- Perry, S., Apel, R., Newman, G. R., & Clarke, R. V. (2017). The situational prevention of terrorism: an evaluation of the Israeli West Bank barrier. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(4), 727-751.
- Ratcliffe, J., Taniguchi, T., & Taylor, R. (2009). The Crime Reduction Effects of Public CCTV Cameras: A Multi-Method Spatial Approach. *Justice Quarterly*, 26(4), 746-770.
- Shukla, R., & Bartgis, E. (2010). Responding to Clandestine Methamphetamine Manufacturing: A Case Study in Situational Crime Prevention. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 21(3), 338-362.
- Smith, M., & Cornish, D. (Eds.). (2003). *Theory for Practice in Situational Crime Prevention. Crime Prevention Studies*, 16. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Tyrpak, S. (1975). Newark High Impact Anti Crime Program: Street Lighting Project Interim Evaluation Report. Newark, NJ: Office of Criminal Justice Planning.
- Waples, S., Gill, M., & Fisher, P. (2009). Does CCTV displace crime? *Criminology & Criminal Justice: An International Journal*, 9(2), 207-224.
- Welsh, B., & Farrington, D. (2009). *Making public places safer: Surveillance and crime prevention*.
- Welsh, B., & Farrington, D. (2009). Public Area CCTV and Crime Prevention: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Justice Quarterly*, 26(4), 716-745.
- Welsh, B.C., Mudge, M.E., & Farrington, D.P. (2010). Reconceptualizing Public Area Surveillance and Crime Prevention: Security Guards, Place Managers, and Defensible Space. *Security Journal*, 23, 299-319.

# Policing and Place

- Andresen, M., & Hodgkinson, T. (2018). Evaluating the impact of police foot patrol at the micro-geographic level. *Policing: an International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, 41(3), 314–324.
- Ariel, B., & Partridge, H. (2016). Predictable Policing: Measuring the Crime Control Benefits of Hotspots Policing at Bus Stops. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *33*(4), 809–833.
- Ariel, B., Sherman, L., & Newton, M. (2020). Testing hot-spots police patrols against notreatment controls: Temporal and spatial deterrence effects in the London Underground experiment. *Criminology*, 58(1), 101–128.
- Ariel, B., Weinborn, C., & Sherman, L. (2016). "Soft" policing at hot spots—do police community support officers work? A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *12*(3), 277–317.
- Bayley, D. (2008). Police Reform: Who Done It?. Policing & Society, 18(1), 7-17.

- Boba, R., & Crank, J. (2008). Institutionalizing Problem-Oriented Policing: Rethinking Problem Solving, Analysis, and Accountability. *Police Practice & Research*, *9*(5), 379-393.
- Bond, B. J., & Braga, A. A. (2015). Rethinking the Compstat process to enhance problem-solving responses: Insights from a randomized field experiment. *Police Practice and Research*, 16(1), 22-35.
- Braga, A. (2001). The Effects of Hot Spots Policing on Crime. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences*, 578, 104-125.
- Braga, A., & Bond, B. (2008). Policing Crime and Disorder Hot Spots: A Randomized Controlled trial. *Criminology*, 46(3), 577-607.
- Braga, A. A. & Weisburd, D. L. (2014). Must we settle for less rigorous evaluations in large area-based crime prevention programs? Lessons from a Campbell review of focused deterrence. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 10 (4), 573 597.
- Braga, A. A., & Weisburd, D. L. (2015). Focused deterrence and the prevention of violent gun injuries: Practice, theoretical principles, and scientific evidence. *Annual review of public health*, *36*, 55-68.
- Braga, A., Weisburd, D., Waring, E., Green-Mazerolle, L., Spelman, W., & Gajewski, F. (1999). Problem Oriented Policing in Violent Crime Places: A Randomized Controlled Experiment. *Criminology*, *37*(3), 541-580.
- Braga, A. A., Hureau, D. M., & Papachristos, A. V. (2014). Deterring gang-involved gun violence: Measuring the impact of Boston's Operation Ceasefire on street gang behavior. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 30 (1), 113 139.
- Braga, A. A., Papachristos, A. V., & Hureau, D. M. (2014). The effects of hot spots policing on crime: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Justice Quarterly*, 31(4), 633 663.
- Braga, A. A., Weisburd, D., & Turchan, B. (2018). Focused deterrence strategies and crime control: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of the empirical evidence. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 17(1), 205-250.
- Braga, A. A., Welsh, B. C., & Schnell, C. (2015). Can policing disorder reduce crime? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 52(4), 567-588.
- Braga, A. A., Zimmerman, G., Barao, L., Farrell, C., Brunson, R. K., & Papachristos, A. V. (2019). Street gangs, gun violence, and focused deterrence: comparing place-based and group-based evaluation methods to estimate direct and spillover deterrent effects. *Journal of research in crime and delinquency*, 56(4), 524-562.
- Braga, A. (2008). *Problem-Oriented Policing & Crime Prevention*. Criminal Justice Press: Monsey, NY.
- Brantingham-Patricia-L, & Brantingham-Paul-J. (2000). Police Use of Environmental Criminology in Strategic Crime Prevention. *Police Practice & Research*, 1(2), 211-240.
- Caeti, T. (1999). Houston's Targeted Beat Program: A Quasi-Experimental Test of Police Patrol Strategies. Doctoral Dissertation, Sam Houston State University, TX.
- Chaiken, J., Lawless, M., & Stevenson, K. (1974). *The Impact of Police Activity on Crime: Robberies on the New York City Subway System.* Report no. R 1424 NYC. Santa Monica, CA: RAND.
- Cerda, M; Tracy, M; Messner, SF; Vlahov, D; Tardiff, K; Galea, S. (2009). Misdemeanor Policing, Physical Disorder, and Gun-related Homicide A Spatial Analytic Test of "Broken-Windows" Theory, *Epidemology*, 20(4), 533-541.

- Cohen, J., Gorr, W., & Singh, P. (2003). Estimating Intervention Effects in Varying Risk Settings: Do Police Raids Reduce Illegal Drug Dealing at Nuisance Bars? *Criminology*, 41(2), 257-92.
- Crow, W., & Bull, J. (1975). *Robbery Deterrence: An Applied Behavioral Science Demonstration Final Report*. La Jolla, CA: Western Behavioral Science Institute.
- de Brito, C., & Ariel, B. (2017). Does Tracking and Feedback Boost Patrol Time in Hot Spots? Two Tests. *Cambridge Journal of Evidence-Based Policing*, 1(4), 244–262.
- Eck, J., & Spelman, W. (1987). *Problem-Solving: Problem-Oriented Policing In Newport News*. Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- Eck, J., & Spelman, W. (1987). Who Ya Gonna Call: The Police as Problem-Busters. *Crime and Delinquency*, 33, 31-52.
- Eck, J., & Spelman, W. (1999). A Problem-Oriented Approach to Police Service Delivery. In D. Kenney & R. McNamara (Eds.). *Police and Policing: Contemporary Issues*. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Eck, J., & LaVigne, N. (1994). *Using Research: A Primer for Law Enforcement Managers* (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- Eck, J., & Spelman, W. (1989). Problem-Solving: Problem-Oriented Policing In Newport News. In R. Dunham & G. Alpert (Eds.). *Critical Issues in Policing: Contemporary Readings (1st ed)*. Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press.
- Eck, J. (2002). Learning from Experience in Problem-Oriented Policing and Situational Prevention: The Positive Functions of Weak Evaluations and the Negative Functions of Strong Ones. In N. Tilley (Ed.). *Evaluation for Crime Prevention. Crime Prevention Studies*, 14 (pp. 93-117). Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Eck, J. (2003). Why Don't Problems Get Solved? In W. Skogan (Ed.). *Community Policing: Can It Work?* (pp. 185-206). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing.
- Fagan, J., Braga, A. A., Brunson, R. K., & Pattavina, A. (2016). Stops and stares: street stops, race, and surveillance in the new policing. *Fordham Urban Law J*, 43(3), 621-696.
- Fyfe, J. (Ed.). (1989). *Police Practice in the '90s: Key Management Issues*. Washington, DC: International City Management Association.
- Gaines, L. (2006). An Analysis of Traffic Stop Data in Riverside, California. *Police Quarterly*, 9(2), 210-233.
- Glensor, R., Correia, M., & Peak, K. (Eds). (2000). *Policing Communities: Understanding Crime and Solving Problems*. Los Angeles, CA: Roxbury.
- Gill, C., Weisburd, D., & Vitter, Z., Gross Shader, C., Nelson-Zagar, T., & Spain, L. (2018). Collaborative problem-solving at youth crime hot spots: A pilot study. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management, 41*(3), 325-338.
- Gill, C., Weisburd, D., Telep, C. W., Vitter, Z., & Bennett, T. (2014). Community-oriented policing to reduce crime, disorder and fear and increase satisfaction and legitimacy among citizens: A systematic review. *Journal of experimental criminology*, 10(4), 399-428.
- Goldkamp, J., & Vîlcic, E. (2008). Targeted Enforcement and Adverse System Side Effects: The Generation of Fugitives in Philadelphia. *Criminology*, 46(2), 371-409.
- Green (Mazerolle), L. (1996). Policing Places with Drug Problems. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Greene, J. (Ed.). (2007). *The Encyclopedia of Police Science*, (3rd ed.), Vol. 2. New York: Routledge.

- Groff, E. R., Johnson, L., Ratcliffe, J. H., & Wood, J. (2013). Exploring the relationship between foot and car patrol in violent crime areas. *Policing: an international journal of police strategies & management.*
- Groff, E. R., Ratcliffe, J. H., Haberman, C. P., Sorg, E. T., Joyce, N. M., & Taylor, R. B. (2015). Does what police do at hot spots matter? The Philadelphia policing tactics experiment. *Criminology*, *53*(1), 23-53.
- Haberman, C. P., & Stiver, W. H. (2019). Using officers' perspectives to guide the implementation of hot spots foot patrols. *Policing and Society*, 1-13.
- Haberman, C. P., Groff, E. R., Ratcliffe, J. H., & Sorg, E. T. (2016). Satisfaction with police in violent crime hot spots: Using community surveys as a guide for selecting hot spots policing tactics. *Crime & Delinquency*, 62(4), 525-557.
- Haberman, C.P. & Stiver, W.H. (2019). The Dayton Foot Patrol Program: An evaluation of hot spots foot patrols in a central business district. *Police Quarterly*, 22(3): 247–277.
- Haberman, C.P. (2016). A view inside the 'black box' of hot spots policing from a sample of police commanders. *Police Quarterly*, 19(4): 488–517.
- Heinonen, J.A. (2008). Risk-Focused Policing at Places: An Experimental Evaluation. *Policing:* An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management, 31(3), pp-pp.
- Henry, V. (2003). *The COMPSTAT Paradigm: Management Accountability in Policing, Business and the Public Sector*. Flushing, NY: Looseleaf Law Publications, Inc.
- Hinkle, J., & Weisburd, D. (2008). The Irony of Broken Windows Policing: A Micro-Place Study of the Relationship Between Disorder, Focused Police Crackdowns and Fear of Crime. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 36(6), XX-XX
- Hodgkinson, T., & Andresen, M. (2019). Understanding the Spatial Patterns of Police Activity and Mental Health in a Canadian City. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 35(2), 221–240.
- Hope, T. (1994). Problem-Oriented Policing and Drug Market Locations: Three Case Studies. In R. Clarke (Ed.). *Crime Prevention Studies Vol.* 2 (pp. 5-31). Monsey, NY: Willow Tree Press.
- Hough, M., & Edmunds, M. (1997, June). *Tackling Drug Markets: An eclectic approach*. Paper presented at the 6th International Seminar on Environmental Criminology and Crime Analysis, Oslo, Norway.
- Johnson, R., & Olschansky, E. (2010). The Ecological Theory of Police Response: A State Police Agency Test. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 23(2), 119-131.
- Klinger, D. (2004). Environment and Organization: Reviving a Perspective on the Police. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *593*, 119-136.
- Koper, C. (2014). Assessing the Practice of Hot Spots Policing: Survey Results from a National Convenience Sample of Local Police Agencies. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 30(2), 123-146.
- Koper, C. (1995). Just Enough Police Presence: Reducing Crime and Disorderly Behavior by Optimizing Patrol Time in Crime Hot Spots. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 649-672.
- Koper, C., Taylor, B., & Woods, D. (2013). A Randomized Test of Initial and Residual Deterrence from Directed Patrol and Use of License Plate Readers at Crime Hot Spots. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 9(2), 213-244.
- Koper, C., Taylor, B., & Park, S. (2019). Optimizing the Geographic Deployment of Hot Spots Patrols with License Plate Readers. *Journal of Experimental Criminology* 15(4), 641-650.

- Koper, C., Lum, C., & Hibdon, J. (2015). The Uses and Impacts of Mobile Computing Technology in Hot Spots Policing. *Evaluation Review*, *39*(6), 587-624.
- Koper, C., Woods, D., & Isom, D. (2016). Evaluating a Police-Led Community Initiative to Reduce Gun Violence in St. Louis. *Police Quarterly*, 19(2), 115-149.
- Koper, C., Egge, J., & Lum, C. (2015). Institutionalizing Place-Based Approaches: Opening 'Cases' on Gun Crime Hot Spots. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 9(3), 242-254.
- Lum, C., & Fyfe, N. (2015). Space, Place, and Policing: Exploring Geographies of Research and Practice. Editorial. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, *9*(3), 219-222.
- Madensen, T. D., Herold, M., Hammer, M. G., & Christenson, B. R. (2017). Place-based investigations to disrupt crime place networks. *Police Chief Magazine*. Retrieved from https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/cj\_fac\_articles/41/
- Manning, P. (2008). The Technology of Policing: Crime Mapping, Information Technology, & the Rationality of Crime Control.
- Manning, M., Mazerolle, L., Mazerolle, P., & Collingwood, P. (2016). Place managers in entertainment districts: The role of third party policing in shaping place manager actions. *Policing and Society*, 26(8), 889-906.
- Maltz, M. D. & Buslik, M. (1998). Power to the people: Crime mapping and information sharing in the Chicago Police Department. In D. Weisburd & J. T. McEwen (Eds.). *Crime Mapping and Crime Prevention*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Mastrofski, S. (2004). Controlling Street-Level Police Discretion. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 593, 100-118.
- Mazerolle, L., Soole, D., & Rombouts, S. (2007). Street-Level Drug Law Enforcement: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Campbell Collaboration Systematic Reviews*. Retrieved from http://www.campbellcollaboration.org/campbell\_library/index.php
- Moore, M. (2003). Sizing Up COMPSTAT: An Important Administrative Innovation in Policing. *Criminology and Public Policy*, 2(3), 469-494.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2008). Intelligence-led Policing. Devon, UK: Willan Publishing.
- Ratcliffe, J. H., Groff, E. R., Sorg, E. T., & Haberman, C. P. (2015). Citizens' reactions to hot spots policing: impacts on perceptions of crime, disorder, safety and police. *Journal of experimental criminology*, 11(3), 393-417.
- Ratcliffe, J.H., Groff, E.R., Sorg, E.T., & Haberman, C.P. (2015). Citizens' reactions to hot spots policing: Experimental impacts on perceptions of crime, disorder, fear and police. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 11(3): 393-417.
- Rengert, G., Ratcliffe, J., & Chakravorty, S. (2005). *Policing Illegal Drug Markets: Geographic approaches to crime prevention*. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Rinehart Kochel, T., & Weisburd, D. (2019). The impact of hot spots policing on collective efficacy: Findings from a randomized field trial. *Justice Quarterly*, *36*(5), 900-928.
- Robinson, J.B. (2008). Measuring the Impact of a Targeted Law Enforcement Initiative on Drug Sales. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *36*(1), 90-101.
- Rogerson, M. (2008). Counting Crimes The Importance of Understanding Crime Concentration for the Design and Evaluation of Crime Reduction Strategies. *International Journal of Police Science & Management, 10*(4), 434-447.
- Santos, R. B., & Santos, R. G. (2015). Examination of police dosage in residential burglary and theft from vehicle micro-time hots spots. *Crime Science*, 4(27), 1-12.

- Santos, R. B., & Santos, R. G. (2020). Proactive police response in property crime micro-time hot spots: Results from a partially-blocked blind random controlled trial. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 1-21.
- Santos, R. G. & Santos, R. B. (2015). An ex post facto evaluation of tactical police response in residential theft from vehicle micro-time hot spots. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 31(4), 679-698.
- Santos, R. G., & Santos, R. B. (2015). Practice-based research: Ex post facto evaluation of evidence-based police practices implemented in residential burglary micro-time hot spots. *Evaluation Review*, *39*(5), 451-479.
- Scott, M. S., & Clarke, R. V. (Eds.). (2020). *Problem-oriented Policing: Successful case studies*. Routledge.
- Sever, B., Garcia, V., & Tsiandi, A. (2008). Municipal police departments' attention to crime analysis: essential or impractical? *Police Practice & Research*, 9(4), 323-340.
- Smith, J., Santos, R. B., & Santos, R. G. (2018). Evidence-based policing and the stratified integration of crime analysis in police agencies: National survey results. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 12(3), 303–315.
- Sherman, L., & Rogan, D. (1995). Deterrent Effects of Police Raids on Crack Houses: A randomized controlled experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 755-782.
- Sherman, L., & Rogan, D. (1995). Effects of Gun Seizures on Gun Violence: "Hot Spots" Patrol in Kansas City. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 673-694.
- Sherman, L., Shaw, J., & Rogan, D. (1995). *The Kansas City Gun Experiment*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Sherman, L., & Weisburd, D. (1989). *Policing the Hotspots of Crime: A Redesign of the Kansas City Preventive Patrol Experiment*. Washington, DC: Crime Control Institute.
- Sherman, L., & Weisburd, D. (1995). General Deterrent Effects of Police Patrol in Crime "Hot Spots": A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Justice Quarterly*, *12*, 626 648.
- Silverman, E. (1999). *NYPD Battles Crime: Innovative Strategies in Policing*. Boston, MA: Northeastern University Press.
- Skogan, W., & Frydl, K. (2004). Effectiveness of Police Activity in Reducing Crime, Disorder and Fear. In W. Skogan & K. Frydl (Eds.). *Fairness and Effectiveness in Policing: The Evidence* (pp. 217-251). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Sorg, E. T., Haberman, C. P., Ratcliffe, J. H., & Groff, E. R. (2013). Foot patrol in violent crime hot spots: The longitudinal impact of deterrence and posttreatment effects of displacement. *Criminology*, *51*(1), 65-101.
- Spelman, W., & Eck, J. The Police and the Delivery of Local Government Services: A Problem-Oriented Approach.
- Spelman, W., & Eck, J. Sitting Ducks, Ravenous Wolves, and Helping Hands: New Approaches to Urban Policing.
- Taylor, B., Koper, C., & Woods, D. (2011). A Randomized Controlled Trial of Different Police Strategies at Hot Spot of Violent Crime. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 7(2), 149-181.
- Telep, C. W., Mitchell, R. J., & Weisburd, D. (2014). How much time should the police spend at crime hot spots? Answers from a police agency directed randomized field trial in Sacramento, California. *Justice quarterly*, 31(5), 905-933.
- Weisburd, D. (2018). Hot spots of crime and place-based prevention. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 17(1), 5-25.

- Weisburd, D. (2008). Place Based Policing. *Ideas in American Policing series*. Police Foundation: Washington, DC.
- Weisburd, D. (2003). Hot Spot Policing Experiments and Criminal Justice Research: Lessons from the field. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 559, 220–245.
- Weisburd, D., & Braga, A. (2003). Hot Spots Policing. In H. Kury & J. Obergfell-Fuchs (Eds.). *Crime Prevention: New Approaches*. Manz: Weisser Ring.
- Weisburd, D., & Braga, A. (2006). Hot Spots Policing as a Model for Police Innovation. In D.
- Weisburd & A. Braga (Eds.). *Police Innovation: Contrasting Perspectives* (pp. 225-244). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Weisburd, D., Braga, A. A., Groff, E. R., & Wooditch, A. (2017). Can hot spots policing reduce crime in urban areas? An agent-based simulation. *Criminology*, 55(1), 137-173.
- Weisburd, D., & Eck, J. (2004). What Can Police Do to Reduce Crime, Disorder and Fear? *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 593, 42-65.
- Weisburd, D., & Lum, C. (2001). *Translating Research into Practice: Reflections on the Diffusion of Crime Mapping Innovations*. Paper presented as the Keynote address at the National Institute of Justices 5th Annual Crime Mapping Research Conference. Denver, CO.
- Weisburd, D., Morris, N., & Ready, J. (2008). Risk-Focused Policing at Places: An Experimental Evaluation. *Justice Quarterly*, 25(1), 163-200.
- Weisburd, D., & Uchida, C. (Eds.). (1993). *Police Innovation and Control of the Police*. New York, NY: Springer Verlag.
- Weisburd, D., & Green (Mazerolle), L. (1995). Policing Drug Hot Spots: The Jersey City Drug Market Analysis experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 12, 711 735.
- Weisburd, D., & Green (Mazerolle), L. (2000). Crime and Disorder in Drug Hot Spots: Implications for Theory and Practice in Policing. *Police Quarterly*, *3*(2), 152-170.
- Weisel, D., & Eck, J. Toward a Practical Approach to Organizational Change: Community Policing Initiatives in Six Cities.
- Weisburd, D., Wooditch, A., Weisburd, S., & Yang, S. M. (2016). Do stop, question, and frisk practices deter crime? Evidence at microunits of space and time. *Criminology & public policy*, 15(1), 31-56.
- Wellford, Charles and Cynthia Lum (special issue editors). (2014). A New Era for Hot Spots Policing. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, *30*, 88-94.
- Wilson, J. & Kelling, G. (1982). The Police and Neighborhood Safety: Broken Windows. *The Atlantic Monthly, March*, 29-38.
- Wooditch, A., & Weisburd, D. (2016). Using space–time analysis to evaluate criminal justice programs: An application to stop-question-frisk practices. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, 32(2), 191-213.
- Wu, X., & Lum, C. (2017). Measuring the Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Police Proactivity. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(4), 915-934.

# Places and their Effect on Criminal Justice Agents

Allen, J., & Monk-Turner, E. (2010). Citizen Perceptions of the Legitimacy of Traffic Stops. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *38*(4), 589-594.

- Alpert, G., Dunham, R., Stroshine, M., Bennett, K., & MacDonald, J. (2004). *Police Officers' Decision Making and Discretion: Forming Suspicion and Making a Stop*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Beardsley, K., Wish, E., Bonanno Fitzelle, D., et al. (2003). Distance traveled to outpatient drug treatment and client retention. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25, 279-285.
- Benforado, A. (2010). The Geography of Criminal Law. Cardozo Law Review, 31(3).
- Byrne, J. (2008). The Social Ecology of Community Corrections Understanding the Link Between Individual and Community Change. *Criminology and Public Policy*, 7(2), 263-274.
- Clear, T., & Corbett, R. The Community Corrections of Place.
- Cullen, F., Eck, J., & Lowenkamp, C. (2002). Environmental Corrections A New Paradigm for Effective Supervision. *Federal Probation*, 66(2), 28-37.
- Davies, H., Nutley, S., & Smith, P. (2000). What Works: Evidence-Based Policy and Practice in Public Services. Bristol, London: Policy Press.
- Eck, J. (2002). Preventing Crime at Places. In L. Sherman, D. Farrington, B. Welsh, & D. MacKenzie (Eds.). *Evidenced-Based Crime Prevention* (pp. 241-294). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Eck, J., Clarke, R., Guerette, R., Farrell, G., Bowers, K., & Johnson, S. (n.d). *Crime Prevention Studies: Vol. 21. Imagination for crime prevention: Essays in honor of Ken Pease.* (pp. 225-264).
- Eck, J., & Wartell, J. (1999). *Reducing Crime and Drug Dealing by Improving Place Management: A Randomized Experiment*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Friedmann, P. D., Lemon, S. C., & Stein, M. D. (2001). Transportation and retention in outpatient drug treatment programs. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 21, 97-103.
- Heinonen, J., & Eck, J. (2007). *Preventing Pedestrian-Vehicle Accidents*. Problem Specific Guide Series. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing, U.S. Department of Justice.
- Jacobson, J., Robinson, P., & Bluthenthal, R. (2007). A Multilevel Decomposition Approach to Estimate the Role of Program Location and Neighborhood Disadvantage in Racial Disparities in Alcohol Treatment Completion. *Social Science and Medicine*, 64, 462-476.
- Jacobson, J. (2004). Place and Attrition from Substance Abuse Treatment. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *34*, 23-49.
- Jacobson, J. (2004). The Ecological Context of Substance Abuse Treatment Outcomes: Implications for NIMBY disputes and client placement decisions. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.
- Lee, B., Oropesa, R., & Kanan, J. (1994). Neighborhood Context and Residential Mobility. *Demography*, 31(2), 249-270.
- Lee, K. & Pinto, S.M. (2009). Crime in a Multi-Jurisdictional Model with Private and Public Prevention. *Journal of Regional Science*, 49(5), 977-996
- MacKenzie, D., & Uchida, C. (Eds.). (1994). *Drugs and Crime: Evaluating Public Policy Initiatives*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mazerolle, L., & Ransley, J. (2012). Crime, place, and pollution: Expanding crime reduction options through a regulatory approach. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 11, 335.
- Mazerolle, L., & Roehl, J. (Eds.). (1998). *Civil Remedies and Crime Prevention. Crime Prevention Studies, Vol. 9.* Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.

- Simpson, R., & Hipp, J. R. (2019). What came first: the police or the incident? Bidirectional relationships between police actions and police incidents. *Policing and society*, 29(7), 783-801.
- Travis, L. III, & Hughes, K. (2002). Mapping in Police Agencies: Beyond this Point There Be Monsters. Washington, DC: Police Foundation.
- White, C., & Weisburd, D. (2018). A co-responder model for policing mental health problems at crime hot spots: Findings from a pilot project. *Policing: a journal of policy and practice*, 12(2), 194-209.

## 9. PREDICTING CRIME AT PLACES/RISK/GEOGRAPHIC PROFILING

- Andresen, M., & Hodgkinson, T. (2018). Predicting Property Crime Risk: an Application of Risk Terrain Modeling in Vancouver, Canada. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 24(4), 373–392.
- Berestycki, H; Nadal, JP. (2010). Self-Organised Critical Hot Spots of Criminal Activity. *European Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 21, 371-399.
- Brantingham, P., & Brantingham, P. (1999). Theoretical Model of Crime Hot Spot Generation. *Studies on Crime and Crime Prevention Volume*, 8(1), 7-26.
- Bowers, K. J., Johnson, S. D., Pease, K. (2004). Prospective Hot-spotting: The Future of Crime Mapping?. *British Journal of Criminology* 44(5), 641-658.
- Brown, S. (1989). Retail Location Theory: The Legacy of Harold Hotelling. *Journal of Retailing*, 65(4), 450-470.
- Canter, D. & Youngs, D. (2008). *Applications of Geographical Offender Profiling*. Ashgate Publishing: Hampshire, England.
- Canter, D. (2009). Developments in Geographical Offender Profiling: Commentary on Bayesian Journey-to-Crime Modelling. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 6(3), 161-166
- Canter, D., & Youngs, D. (2008). Principles of Geographical Offender Profiling.
- Craglia, M., Haining, R., & Signoretta, P. (2005). Modelling High-Intensity Crime Areas: comparing perceptions with offence/offender data in Sheffield. *Environment and Planning*, *37*, 503-524.
- Davies, T., & Johnson, S. D. (2015). Examining the relationship between road structure and burglary risk via quantitative network analysis. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 31(3), 481-507.
- Davis, J., & Tunks, E. (1990-1991). Environments and Addiction: A Proposed Taxonomy. *The International Journal of the Addictions*, 25(7A and 8A), 805-826.
- Hipp, J. R. (2016). General theory of spatial crime patterns. Criminology, 54(4), 653-679.
- Levine, N. & Block, R. (2011). Bayesian Journey-to-Crime Estimation: An Improvement in Geographic Profiling Methodology. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 213-229.
- Johnson, S.D. (2010). Prospective Mapping. In B. Fisher and S. Lab (Eds.) *Encyclopedia on Victimology and Crime Prevention*. Sage.
- Johnson, S.D., and Bowers, K.J. (2007). Burglary Prediction: Theory, Flow and Friction. In Graham Farrell, Kate Bowers, Shane D Johnson and Michael Townsley (Eds.), *Crime Prevention Studies Volume 21*. New York: CRC Press.
- Johnson, S. D., Bowers, K. J. (2004). The burglary as clue to the future: The beginnings of prospective hot-spotting. *European Journal of Criminology* 1(2), 237-255.
- Johnson, S.D., Bowers, K.J., Birks, D. and Pease, K. (2008). Predictive Mapping of Crime by ProMap: Accuracy, Units of Analysis and the Environmental Backcloth, Weisburd, D., W. Bernasco and G. Bruinsma (Eds). *Putting Crime in its Place: Units of Analysis in Spatial Crime Research*. New York: Springer.
- Johnson, S.D., Bowers, K. and Pease, K. (2005). Predicting the Future or Summarising the Past? Crime Mapping as Anticipation In Melissa Smith and Nick Tilley (Eds.) *Crime Science: New Approaches to Preventing and Detecting Crime*, 145-163. London: Willan.

- Kim, Y. A., Hipp, J. R., & Kubrin, C. E. (2019). Where they live and go: Immigrant ethnic activity space and neighborhood crime in Southern California. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 64(1), 1-12.
- Kleiman, M. (1991, November). *Modeling Drug Markets*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Society of Criminology. San Francisco, CA.
- Kubrin, C. E., Hipp, J. R., & Kim, Y. A. (2018). Different than the sum of its parts: Examining the unique impacts of immigrant groups on neighborhood crime rates. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 34(1), 1-36.
- Kubrin, C. E., Kim, Y. A., & Hipp, J. R. (2019). Institutional completeness and crime rates in immigrant Neighborhoods. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 56(2), 175-212.
- Menting, B., Lammers, M., Ruiter, S., & Bernasco, W. (2020). The Influence of Activity Space and Visiting Frequency on Crime Location Choice: Findings from an Online Self-Report Survey. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 60(2), 303-322.
- Mohler, G.O., Short, M.B., Brantingham, P.J., Schoenberg, F.P., & Tita, G.E. (2008). Self-exciting point process modeling of crime. Accessed from: http://www.math.ucla.edu/~gmohler/crime point process.pdf On November 8, 2010
- O'Leary, M. (2009). The Mathematics of Geographic Profiling. *Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling*, 6(3), 253-265.
- Pauwels, Lieven, Frank Weerman, Gerben J.N. Bruinsma & Wim Bernasco (2015), How much variance in offending, self-control and morality can be explained by neighbourhoods and schools? An exploratory cross-classified multi-level analysis, *European Journal of Criminological Policy and Research*, 21(4): 523-537.
- Pitcher, A. & Johnson, S. (2011). Exploring Theories of Victimization Using a Mathematical Model of Burglary. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*. 48(1), 83-109.
- Rossmo, D. K. (2000). Geographic Profiling. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Wikström, P., Ceccato, V., Hardie, B., & Treiber, K. (2010). Activity Fields and the Dynamics of Crime. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 55-87.
- Summers, L., and Johnson, S.D. (2017). Does the configuration of the street network influence where outdoor serious violence takes place? Using space syntax to test crime pattern theory. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(2): 397-420.

## 10. CRIME ANALYSIS, METHODS AND DATA USE

- Andresen, M.A. (2009). Testing for Similarity in Area-Based Spatial Patterns: A Nonparametric Monte Carlo approach. *Applied Geography*, (29)3, 333-345.
- Bailey, T., & Gatrell, A. (1995). *Interactive Spatial Data Analysis*. Harlow, England: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Beek, M., Eshof, P., & Mali, B. (2010). Statistical Modeling in the Investigation of Stranger Rape. *Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling*, 7(1), 31-47.
- Bichler, B. & Balchak, S. (2007). Address Mapping Bias: Ignorance is not Bliss. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 29(1), 32-60.
- Bowers, K., Hirschfield, A., Johnson, S. D. (1998). Victimization Revisited: A Case Study of Non-Residential Repeat Burglary on Merseyside. *British Journal of Criminology* 38(3), 429-452.
- Bowers, K. J., & Johnson, S. D. (2005). Domestic burglary repeats and space-time clusters: the dimensions of risk. *European Journal of Criminology* 2(1), 67-92.
- Block, C., Dabdoub, M., & Fregly, S. (Eds.). (1995). *Crime Analysis Through Computer Mapping*. Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- Boba, R. (2005). Crime Analysis and Crime Mapping. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bonner, M., Han, D., Nie, J., Rogerson, R., Vena, J., & Freudenheim, J. (2003). Positional Accuracy of Geocoded Addresses in Epidemiological Research. *Epidemiology*, *14*(4), 408-412.
- Boots, B., & A.Getis. (1988). *Point Pattern Analysis. Scientific Geography Series* 8. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Bosse, T. & Gerritsen, C. (2008). Agent-Based Simulation of the Spatial Dynamics of Crime: On the Interplay Between Criminal Hot Spots and Reputation. *International Conference on Autonomous Agents*.
- Bosse, T. & Gerritsen, C. (2010). Social Simulation An Analysis of the Dynamics of Criminal Hot Spots. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*, 13(2), 5-28
- Block, C., & Green, L. (1994). *The GeoArchive Handbook: A Guide for Developing a Geographic Database as an Information Foundation for Community Policing*. Chicago, IL: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- Caliber Associates. (2001). Exploratory and Confirmatory Spatial Data Analysis Approaches to Studying the Correlates of Juvenile Violent Crimes, Vol. II, Final Report. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Cayo, M., & Talbot, T. (2003). Positional Error in Automated Geocoding of Residential Addresses. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 2, 1-12.
- Chainey, S., & J. Ratcliff. (2005). *GIS and Crime Mapping*. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Chainey, S. & Tompson, L. (2008). *Crime Mapping Case Studies: Practice and Research*. John Wiley & Sons Ltd: Sussex, England.
- Chainey, S. Tompson, L., & Uhling, S. (2008). The Utility of Hotspot Mapping for Predicting Spatial Patterns of Crime. *Security Journal*, 21,4-28.
- Clarke, R., & Eck, J. (2003). *Becoming a Problem-Solving Crime Analyst: In 55 Small Steps*. London: Jill Dando Institute of Crime Science.
- Clarke, R., & Eck, J. (2005). *Crime Analysis for Problem Solvers. In 60 Small Steps*. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing.

- Corcoran, J., Brundson, C. Higgs, G. & Ware, A. (2009). *Using Isosurfaces to Explore Geo-Temporal Patterns Of Crime*.
- Cusimano, Michael; Marshall, Sean; Rinner, Claus; Jiang, Depeng; Chipman, Mary. (2010). Patterns of Urban Violent Injury: A Spatio-Temporal Analysis. *Plos One*, *5*(1).
- Dray, A., Mazerolle, L., Perez, P., & Ritter, A. (2008). Policing Australia's 'Heroin Drought': Using an Agent-Based Model to Simulate Alternative Outcomes. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 4(3), 267-287.
- Elffers, Reynald, Averdijk, Bernasco, & Block (2008). Modelling Crime Flow Between Neighborhoods in Terms of Distance and Intervening Opportunities. *Crime Prevention and Community Safety*, 10, 85-96.
- Eck, J.E., Chainey, S., Cameron, J.G., Leitner, M. & Wilson, R.E. (2005). *Mapping Crime: Understanding Hot Spots*. National Institute of Justice: Washington, DC. http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/209393.pdf
- Faggiani, D., & McLaughlin, C. (1999). Using National Incident-Based Reporting System Data for Strategic Crime Analysis. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 15(2), 181.
- Flowerdew, R., & Green, M. (1992). Developments in Areal Interpolation Methods and GIS. *Annals of Regional Science*, 26(1), 67-78.
- Fotheringham, A. S., Brunsdon, C., & Charlton, M. (2000). *Quantitative Geography: Perspectives on Spatial Data Analysis*. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Gatrell, A., Bailey, T., Diggle, P., & Rowlingson, B. (1996). Spatial Point Pattern Analysis and its Application in Geographical Epidemiology. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 21(1), 256-274.
- Groff, E.R., Johnson, S.D. & Thornton, A. J. (2018). State of the Art in Agent-Based Modeling of Urban Crime: An Overview. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, advanced online access.1.
- Goldsmith, V., McGuire, P., Mollenkopf, J., & Ross, T. (Eds.). (2000). *Analyzing Crime Patterns: Frontiers of Practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Harries, K. (2001). *Demonstration of Orthophotographic Representation and Analysis. Final Research Report*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Harries, K. (1999). *Mapping Crime: Principle and Practice*. Accessed from: http://www.ncjrs.gov/html/nij/mapping/ch4\_9.html on November 8, 2010
- Haining, R. (1990). *Spatial Data Analysis in the Social and Environmental Sciences*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Hutt, O., Bowers, K., Johnson, S., & Davies, T. (2018). Data and evidence challenges facing place-based policing. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, 41(3), 339-351.
- Hirschfield, A., & Bowers, K. (2001). *Mapping and Analysing Crime Data: Lessons from Research and Practice*. London, UK: Taylor and Francis
- Johnson, S.D., Birks, D.J., McLaughlin, L., Bowers, K.J., & Pease, K. (2007). *Prospective crime mapping in operational context*. Home Office: UK.
- Johnson, S. D., Bernasco, W., Bowers, K., Elffers, H., Ratcliffe, J., Rengert, G., Townsley, M. (2007). Space-Time Patterns of Risk: A Cross National Assessment of Residential Burglary Victimization. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 23(3), 201-209.
- Johnson, S. D., & Bowers, K. (2004). The stability of space-time clusters of burglary. *British Journal of Criminology* 44(1), 55-65.
- Johnson, S. D., Bowers, K., Hirschfield, A. (1997). New insights into the spatial and temporal

- distribution of repeat victimization. *British Journal of Criminology* 37(2), 224-241.
- Johnson, S.D., Lab, S.P., & Bowers, K.J. (2008). Stable and Fluid Hotspots of Crime: Differentiation and Identification. *Built Environment*, *34*(1), 32-45.
- Johnson, S. D., Summers, L., Pease, K. (2009). Offender as forager? A Direct Test of the Boost Account of Victimisation. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 25(2), 181-200.
- Kaluzny, S., Vega, S., Cardoso, T., & Shelly, A. (1998). S+ Spatial Stats: User's Manual for Windows and Unix. Seattle, WA: Insightful Corporation Odland, J. (1988). Spatial Autocorrelation. Scientific Geography Series 9. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Kerry et al. (2010). Applying Geostatistical Analysis to Crime Data: Car-Related Thefts in the Baltic States. *Geographical Analysis*, 42(1), 53-77.
- Kinney, J.N., Brantingham, P.L., Wuscke, K., Kirk, M.G., & Brantingham, P.J. (2008). Crime Attractors, Generators and Detractors: Land Use and Urban Crime Opportunities. *Built Environment*, 34(1), 62-74.
- Land, K., & Deane, G. (1992). On the Large-Sample Estimation of Regression Models with Spatial- or Network-Effects Terms: A Two-Stage Least Squares Approach. *Sociological Methodology*, 22, 221-248.
- Lawton, B.A., Hickman, M., Piquero, A., & Greene, J. (2001). Using GIS to Analyze Complaints Against Police: A Research Note. *Justice Research Policy*, 3 (2), 95-108.
- LaVigne, N. and Wartell, J. (Eds.). (1998). *Crime Mapping Case Studies: Vol. 1.* Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- LaVigne, N. and Wartell, J. (Eds.). (2000). *Crime Mapping Case Studies: Vol. 2.* Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.
- LaVigne, N. (2007). Mapping for Community-Based Prisoner Reentry Efforts: A Guidebook for Law Enforcement and Their Partners. Washington, DC: Police Foundation.
- Leitner, M., & Kent, J. (2009). Bayesian Journey-to-Crime Modelling of Single and Multiple Crime-Type Series in Baltimore County, MD. *Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling*, 6(3), 213-236.
- Levine, N. & Lee, P. (2009). Bayesian Journey-to-Crime Modelling of Juvenile and Adult Offenders by Gender in Manchester. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 6(3), 237-252.
- Levine, N. (2009). Introduction to the Special Issue on Bayesian Journey-to-Crime Modeling. Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling, 6(3), 167-185.
- Liu, L., & Eck, J.E. (2008). Artificial Crime Analysis Systems: Using Computer Simulations and Geographic Information Systems.
- Macbeth, E., & Ariel, B. (2019). Place-based Statistical Versus Clinical Predictions of Crime Hot Spots and Harm Locations in Northern Ireland. *Justice Quarterly*, *36*(1), 93–126.
- Maltz, M. D., Gordon, A. C., & Friedman, W. (1991). *Mapping Crime in Its Community Setting:* Event Geography Analysis. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag. ONLINE VERSION AVAILABLE (2000). <a href="http://www.uic.edu/depts/lib/forr/">http://www.uic.edu/depts/lib/forr/</a> and at http://sociology.osu.edu/mdm/mappingcrime.pdf.
- Mamalian, C., LaVigne, N., & Groff, E. (1999). *The Use of Computerized Crime Mapping by Law Enforcement: Survey Results*. NIJ Research Preview. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Manning, P. (1992). Information Technologies and the Police. Crime and Justice, 15, 349-398.

- Manning, P. (2001). Technology's Ways: Information Technology, Crime Analysis and the Rationalizing of Policing. *Criminal Justice*, 1(1), 83-103.
- Meier, R., Kennedy, L., & Sacco, V. (Eds.). (2001). The Process and Structure of Crime: Criminal Events and Crime Analysis. Theoretical Advances in Criminology. New Brunswick, NJ: Transactions.
- National Institute of Justice. (2009). Mapping and Analysis for Public Safety. The National Institute of Justice: Research, development, evaluation. Accessed November 8, 2010 from http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij/maps/
- Nobles, M.R. (2010) Using Geographic Information Systems to Study Race, Crime, and Policing.
- Olligschlaeger, A. (1997). Spatial Analysis of Crime Using GIS-based Data: Weighted spatial adaptive filtering and chaotic cellular forecasting with application to street level drug markets. Doctoral Dissertation. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon University.
- Ormsby, T., Napoleon, E., Burke, R., Groessly, X., & Bowden, L. (2008). *Getting to know ArcGIS*. ESRI Press: Redlands, CA.
- Porter, L. C., Curtis, A., Jefferis, E., & Mitchell, S. (2020). Where's the Crime? Exploring Divergences Between Call Data and Perceptions of Local Crime. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 60(2), 444-467.
- Paynich, R. & Hill, B. (2009). *Fundamentals of crime mapping*. Jones & Bartlett Publishers: Sudbury, MA.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2010) *Hotspot Detective*. Accessed November 8, 2010 from http://jratcliffe.net/hsd/index.htm .
- Ratcliffe, J. (2004). Geocoding Crime and a First Estimate of a Minimum Acceptable Hit Rate. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 18(1), 61-72.
- Ratcliffe, J.H. (2010). The Spatial Dependency of Crime Increase Dispersion. *Security Journal*, 23, 18-36.
- Ratcliffe, JH; Rengert, GF. (2009). Near-Repeat Patterns in Philadelphia Shootings, *Security Journal*, 21, 58-76.
- Reibel, M., & Bufalino, M. (2005). Street-Weighted Interpolation Techniques for Demographic Count Estimation in Incompatible Zone Systems. *Environment and Planning A*, *37*, 127-139.
- Santos, R. B. (2014). The effectiveness of crime analysis for crime reduction: Cure or Diagnosis? *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 30(2), 147-168.
- Santos, R. B., & Santos, R. G. (2018). Introduction crime analysis practice, research partnerships, and role in evidence-based policing. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 12(3), 251–254.
- Santos, R. B., & Taylor, B. (2014). The integration of crime analysis into police patrol work: results from a national survey of law enforcement. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, *37*(3), 501-520.
- Saunders, J., Lundberg, R., Braga, A. A., Ridgeway, G., & Miles, J. (2015). A synthetic control approach to evaluating place-based crime interventions. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 31(3), 413-434.
- Sorg, E. T., Wood, J. D., Groff, E. R., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2014). Boundary adherence during place-based policing evaluations: A research note. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *51*(3), 377-393.

- Sorg, E. T., Wood, J. D., Groff, E. R., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2017). Explaining dosage diffusion during hot spot patrols: An application of optimal foraging theory to police officer behavior. *Justice quarterly*, *34*(6), 1044-1068.
- Sidebottom, A., & Bowers, K. (2010). Bag theft in bars: An analysis of relative risk, perceived risk and modus operandi. *Security Journal*, 23(3), 206-224.
- Taniguchi, T. A., & Gill, C. (2019). The mobilization of computerized crime mapping: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 15(2), 213-225.
- Telep, C. W., & Hibdon, J. (2017). Identifying and responding to hot spots: Are crime counts enough. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 16, 661.
- Townsley, M. (2008). Visualising Space Time Patterns in Crime: The Hotspot Plot. *Crime Patterns and Analysis*, 61-74
- Townsley, M. (2009). Spatial Autocorrelation and Impacts on Criminology, *Geographical Analysis*, 41(4), 452-461.
- Upton, G., & Fingleton, B. (1985). Spatial Data Analysis by Example Vol. I: Point Pattern and Quantitative Data. Chichester, NY: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- U.S. Department of Commerce. (1994). *Geographic Areas Reference Manual*. Retrieved January 11, 2004, from http://www.census.gov/geo/www/GARM/GARMcont.pdf.
- Weisburd, D., & Lum, C. (2005). The Diffusion of Computerized Crime Mapping in Policing: Linking Research and Practice. *Police Practice and Research: An International Journal*, 6(5), 419-434.

## 11. DIFFUSION AND DISPLACEMENT

- Barr, R., & Pease, K. (1990). Crime Placement, Displacement and Deflection. In M. Tonry & N. Morris (Eds.). *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research, Vol. 12*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Bowers, K. J., Johnson, S. D. (2003). Measuring the geographical displacement of crime. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 19(3), 275-301.
- Clarke, R., & Weisburd, D. (1994). Diffusion of Crime Control benefits: Observations on the reverse of displacement. In R. Clarke (Ed.). *Crime Prevention Studies Vol.* 2 (pp. 165-183). Monsey, NY: Willow Tree Press.
- Cohen, J., & Tita, G. (1999). Diffusion in Homicide: Exploring a General Method for Detecting Spatial Diffusion Processes. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 15(4), 451-493.
- Gabor, T. (1990). Crime Displacement and Situational Prevention: Toward the Development of Some Principles. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, *32*, 41-74.
- Eck, J. (1993). The Threat of Crime Displacement. Criminal Justice Abstracts, 25(3), 527-546.
- Ekwall, D. (2009) "The Displacement Effect in Cargo Theft", *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 39(1), 47 62.
- Green (Mazerolle), L. (1995). Cleaning Up Drug Hot Spots in Oakland, California: The Displacement and Diffusion Effects. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 737-754.
- Guerette, R.T. & Bowers, K.J. (2009). Assessing the Extent of Crime Displacement and Diffusion of Benefits: A Review of Situational Crime Prevention Evaluations. *Criminology*, 47(4), 1331-1368.
- Hesseling, R. (1994). Displacement: A Review of the Empirical Literature. In R. Clark (Ed.). *Crime Prevention Studies, Vol. 3* (pp. 197-230). Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Hodgkinson, T., Saville, G., & Andresen, M. (2020). The Diffusion of Detriment: Tracking Displacement Using a City-Wide Mixed Methods Approach. *British Journal of Criminology*, 60(1), 198–218.
- Johnson, S.D., Guerette, R., and Bowers, K.J. (2014). Crime Displacement: What we Know, What we Don't Know and What it means for Crime reduction. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 10(4), 549-571.
- Lawton, B.A., Taylor, R.B., & Luongo, A.J. (2005). Police Officers on Drug Corners in Philadelphia, Drug Crime, and Violent Crime: Intended, Diffusion, and Displacement Impacts. *Justice Quarterly*, 22 (4), 427-451.
- Murray, R.K. & Roncek, D.W. (2008). Measuring Diffusion of Assaults Around Bars Through Radius and Agency Techniques. *Criminal Justice Review*, 33(2), 199-220.
- Ratcliffe, J. (2002). *Burglary Reduction and The Myth of Displacement*. Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice. Australian Institute of Criminology Paper, No.232.
- Ratcliffe, J. & Breen, C. (2011). Crime Diffusion and Displacement: Measuring the Side Effects of Police Operations. *The Professional Geographer*, 63(2), 230-243.
- Rengert, G. (1989). Drug Sales, Residential Burglary and Neighborhood Viability: Sorting out the components of a diffusion process. *Proceedings of the Middle States Division of the Association of American Geographers*, 83-89.
- Reppetto, T. (1976). Crime Prevention and the Displacement Phenomenon. *Crime and Delinquency*, 22, 166-177.

- Short, M.B., Brantingham, P.J., Bertozzi, A.L. & Tita, G.E. (2010). Dissipation and Displacement of Hotspots in Reaction-Diffusion Models of Crime. *Proceeds of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(9), 3961-3965.
- Telep, C. W., Weisburd, D., Gill, C. E., Vitter, Z., & Teichman, D. (2014). Displacement of crime and diffusion of crime control benefits in large-scale geographic areas: A systematic review. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 10(4), 515-548.
- Varano, S., Schafer, J., Cancino, J., Decker, S., & Greene, J. (2010). A Tale of Three Cities: Crime and Displacement After Hurricane Katrina. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 38(1), 42-50.
- Weisburd, D., Wyckoff, L., Ready, J., Eck, J., Hinkle, J., & Gajewski, F. (2004). *Does Crime Just Move Around the Corner? A study of displacement and diffusion in Jersey City, NJ, Executive Summary*. Final report to the National Institute of Justice by the Police Foundation under award number 97-IJ-CX-0055. http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/211679.pdf
- Weisburd, D., Wyckoff, L., Ready, J., Eck, J., Hinkle, J., & Gajewski, F. (2006). Does Crime Just Move Around the Corner? A Controlled Study of Spatial Displacement and Diffusion of Crime Control Benefits. *Criminology*, 44(3), 549-592.
- Wheeler, A. P., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2018). A simple weighted displacement difference test to evaluate place based crime interventions. *Crime Science*, 7(1), 11.

## 12. JOURNEY TO CRIME

- Bernasco, W. (2010). A Sentimental Journey to Crime: Effects of Residential History on Crime Location Choice. *Criminology*, 48(2), 389-416.
- Bernasco, W. (2010). Modeling Micro-Level Crime Location Choice: Application of the Discrete Choice Framework to Crime at Places. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 26(1), 113-138.
- Bernasco, W. (2019). Adolescent offenders' current whereabouts predict locations of their future crimes. *PloS one*, *14*(1), e0210733.
- Bernasco, W. & Block, R. (2009). Where offenders choose to attack: A discrete choice model of robberies in Chicago. *Criminology*, 47(1), 93-130.
- Bernasco, W., & van Dijke, R. (2020). Do offenders avoid offending near home? A systematic review of the buffer zone hypothesis. *Crime Science*, *9*, 1-10.
- Block, R. & Bernasco, W. (2009). Finding a Serial Burglar's Home Using Distance Decay and Conditional Origin-Destination Patterns: A Test of Empirical Bayes Journey-to-Crime Estimation in The Hague. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 6, 187-211.
- Capone, D., & Nichols, W. (1976). Urban Structure and Criminal Mobility. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 20, 199-213.
- Duwe, G. (2008). Does Residential Proximity Matter? A Geographic Analysis of Sex Offense Recidivism. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *35*(4), 484-504.
- Hesseling, R. (1992). Using Data on Offender Mobility in Ecological Research. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 8, 95-112.
- Johnson, L. T., Taylor, R. B., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2013). Need drugs, will travel?: The distances to crime of illegal drug buyers. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 41(3), 178-187.
- Johnson, S.D. (2014). How do Offenders Choose where to Offend? Perspectives from Animal Foraging. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*. 19(2), 193-210.
- Johnson, S. D., & Summers, L. (2015). Testing ecological theories of offender spatial decision making using a discrete choice model. *Crime & Delinquency*, 61(3), 454-480.
- LeBeau, J. (1987). The Journey to Rape: Geographic Distance and the Rapist's Method of Approaching the Victim. *Journal of Police Science and Administration*, *15*, 129-136.
- Lu, Y. (2003). Getting Away with Stolen Vehicle: An Investigation of Journey-after-Crime. *The Professional Geographer*, 55(4), 422-433.
- McConnell, P. (2006). Offender and Victim Journeys to Homicide: Controlling for Geometry in Mobility Triangle Research. Paper presented at American Society of Criminology, 2006 Annual Meeting. Los Angeles, CA.
- Morselli, C. & Royer, M. (2008). Criminal Mobility and Criminal Achievement. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 45(1), 4-21.
- Pettiway, L. (1995). Copping Crack: The Travel Behavior of Crack Users. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(3), 499-524.
- Pizarro, J., Corsaro, N., & Yu, S. (2007). Journey to Crime and Victimization: An Application of Routine Activities Theory and Environmental Criminology to Homicide. *Victims and Offenders*, 2, 375-394.
- Rengert, G., Piquero, A., & Jones, P. (1999). Distance Decay Reexamined. *Criminology*, 37, 427-445.

- Smith, W., Bond, J.W., & Townsley, M. (2009). Determining How Journey-to-Crime Vary: Measuring Inter-and Intra- Offender Crime Trip Distributions. In D. Weisburd (Eds.) *Putting crime in its place*. Springer.
- Stuart, C. (1979). Search and Spatial Organization of Trading. In S. Lippman & J. McCall (Eds.). *Studies in the Economics of Search* (pp. 17-34). New York: New Holland.
- Tita, G., & Griffiths, E. (2005). Traveling to Violence: The case for a mobility-based spatial typology of homicide. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 42(3), 275-308.
- Townsley, M., & Sidebottom, A., (2010). All Offenders Are Equal, But Some Are More Equal Than Others: Variation in Journeys to Crime Between Offenders. *Criminology*, 48(3), 897-917.
- Van Koppen, P. J., & de Keijser, J. W. (1997). Desisting Distance Decay: On the aggregation of individual crime trips. *Criminology*, *35*, 505-515.
- Wiles, P., & Costello, A. (2001). *The 'Road to Nowhere': The Evidence for Travelling Criminals*. Home Office Research Study, 207.